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Photo: Le Trou Aid Post Cemetery, Rue-Petillon, Fleurbaix. This cemetery near the Fromelles battlefield contains 56 

Australians, only four of whom are identified: two from the 54
th
 Battalion and two from the 32

nd
 Battalion. Courtesy 

Peter Morrissey, Coonabarabran. 
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Trench talk 

Graeme Hosken. 

 
This issue 
DIGGER 54 is our ócolour issueô for the year. Thanks to the contributing photographers and those who 

submitted articles for this issue. Articles for DIGGERs 55 and 56 are now being sought.  

New members 
Welcome to John Cameron, Lucy Toohey, Denis Pain, Dean Sherringham and Lynda Ward.  
Re-enactment of the Co-ee March 
Congratulations to those FFFAIF members (names bolded below) who played a role in the re-enactment of 

the Co-ee March in October-November, 2015. Margo Piggott sent in this report: ñDoug Diggs was one of 

the main instigators of the Coo-ee March statue. Doug liaised with Brett Garling, the sculptor, and organised 

fund raising through the Lions Club. Doug and his wife were very involved in the pre-march functions and 

attended the final service in Martin Place on Remembrance Day. My job was on the Support team with the 

Medical Team. We were lucky to have St Johnôs Ambulance support all the way. Gilgandra locals, Geoff 

Kiehne (NSW Ambulance Paramedic trainer), Barb Kiehne and myself (Registered Nurses) held foot clinics 

every night to keep the feet marching the 20-38 km a day. I was also part-time kitchen hand and the ógoforô. 

Brian Bywater  has a passionate interest in the Coo-ee March and he was one of the instigators of the first 

Coo-ee March re-enactment in 1987. He was determined to have a centenary Coo-ee March re-enactment 

and worked for about five years towards the 2015 re-enactment. Brian was in charge and carried the flag at 

the front of the march and took his turn at the street parades and services held along the way. Jack Burrell  

had knee surgery only months before, but he was determined to be a marcher in the Coo-ee re-enactment 

march and he made it. Alternating between marching and driving the water cart, he made it all the way to 

Sydney. Shirley Marks  attended the pre-march events and arrived in Sydney for the last night at Ashfield 

and the final day at Martin Place for the Remembrance Day Ceremony.ò The Editor adds: Helen Thompson 

was the historical researcher who spoke at each stop about some of the district men who joined the march at 

that town, while Stephen Thompson spent many months planning and gaining approval for the route of the 

march. David Creenaune dressed as an itinerant labourer or óswaggieô and supplemented the march in 

Gilgandra and Dubbo. DIGGER hopes to run an article on the Coo-ee re-enactment march in a forthcoming 

issue.    

COBBeR 2 
Did you receive the second issue of our digital magazine COBBeR, emailed in November 2015? If not, it 

may have gone directly into your ójunk mailô folder so have a look there first (it was sent from my gmail 

account on 10 November). If you didnôt receive it, your Inbox may be full or the Editor doesnôt have your 

(correct) e-mail address. Please contact the Editor at ghoskenaif@bigpond.com to arrange delivery.   

Congratulations to Brendan and Noeleen 
FFFAIF member Number 500, Brendan Nelson, Director of the Australian War Memorial, was awarded an 

Officer of the Order of Australia in the 2015 Australia Day Honours, ófor distinguished service to the 

Parliament of Australia, the community, the advancement of Australia's international relations, and to major 

cultural institutionsô. Congratulations also to member Noeleen Lloyd for being part of the Greta (Vic) 

Combined Committee, winners of the ó2016 Community Event of the Yearô for their óOfficial Opening of 

WWI Centenary of Anzac Memorial Wall and Plaque and the Greta/Hansonville Hall WWI Honour Boardô. 
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A short and savage war: the men of the 6
th

 Rfts/4
th

 Bn 
Stephen Brooks, Barooga. 

 

uring April, May and June, 1915, the 6
th
 Reinforcements to the 4

th
 Battalion were raised in NSW. 

The men primarily came from in and around Sydney, and were keen to enlist as the news of the 

Australians landing on Gallipoli came through.  

 The 155 men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements to the 4

th
 Battalion embarked on HMAT A63 Karoola at 

Sydney on 16 June, 1915. The ship had already picked up reinforcements in Brisbane and the next port of 

call was Fremantle in WA, where they would pick up more. Some of the men took the opportunity to ñhave a 

look aroundò Fremantle and many had to be rounded up ñquite drunkò before the ship left port.  

 Five men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements/4

th
 Battalion did not board the ship, and their files were marked 

as ódesertersò, although the fact that they were missing did not seem to be discovered for a long time. It still 

worries me that some of these men may have been killed at Lone Pine and been overlooked.  

 One of the ódesertersô, Private 2268 Charles Day, re-enlisted a week later in the 11
th
 Battalion 

(WA) but was killed in a fall from a horse in Perth on 25 October, 1915. The rest of the men disembarked in 

Egypt on 21 July and only two weeks later the bulk of them landed at Anzac Cove to reinforce the 4
th
 

Battalion.  

 The reinforcements were landed on 4 August, 1915, only two days before the attack on the Lone 

Pine trench system at Gallipoli. They would have little time to get to know the óveteranô originals of the 4
th
 

Battalion, and they certainly had little time to train for the battle which they were about to enter. Most of the 

newly arrived men had enlisted only weeks before they left Australia, and there would have been very 

limited opportunity to prepare for the task ahead.   

 The Australians attacking Lone Pine were involved in some of the fiercest fighting they ever 

experienced, almost medieval in its savagery. After their initial success in capturing the warren of Turkish 

trenches, just a few hectares in size, the battle for the trenches raged for four days. Intense hand-to-hand 

fighting and bombing in and amongst the network of trenches and saps went on hour after hour.  

 Unlike the artillery and machine guns of the Western Front, fists, bayonets, knives, rifle butts and 

entrenching tools were the tools of trade for the desperate combatants. Home-made bombs were thrown in 

their thousands, killing and maiming men horribly in the claustrophobic deep trenches. No quarter was given 

or received in the close, dark confines of the Pine. The dead and wounded of both sides almost clogged the 

trenches.  

 Utilising the wonderful resources of the National 

Archives, one can go online and look at each of the service files 

of the men of 6th Reinforcements to discover their individual 

fates. The fact that they had only just arrived meant they went 

to Gallipoli almost completely intact in number. Of the 150 men 

of the 6
th
 Reinforcements who arrived in Egypt, four men were 

sent back to Australia without reaching Gallipoli, sick, with VD 

being the common factor, and another eight men were not 

landed at Gallipoli on 4 August, 1915. Thus 138 men of the 6
th
 

Reinforcements, almost entirely raw recruits, were sent into 

action when the 4
th
 Battalion made their charge against the 

northern part of the Lone Pine on 6 August. (The 3
rd
 Battalion 

attacked the central section and the 1
st
 Battalion attacked the 

southern section at the same time.)    

 Immediately after those ferocious few days of fighting, 

47 men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements lay dead or were mortally 

wounded. Another 69 men had been seriously wounded, badly 

enough to be evacuated from Gallipoli, to Mudros, England or 

Egypt.   

 The photo at left was taken June, 1915. It shows 

Private 2279 Percy Smedley Draper seated, with Private 

2204 Royal Mackey. Both men, members of the 6
th
 óReosô, 4

th
 

Battalion, were killed at Lone Pine.  

 Percy Draper was 38 years of age, married with three 

infant children. He fell before the Anzacs reached the log-

D 

https://illawarraremembers.files.wordpress.com/2013/12/russo_l-01.jpg
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covered trenches in the charge; his death witnessed by the later captain, Allan Edwin Leane, 48
th
 Battalion. 

Leane was also a private of the 6
th
 Rfts/4

th
 Bn, but he was quickly promoted and transferred to his brothersô 

unit, the 48
th
 Battalion, in France. He died as a captain at Bullecourt in 1917. Mackey, standing in the photo, 

was stated by his father to be only 17 years and 9 months old when he died.  

 By 15 August, 1915, 116 of the 138 men were no longer at Anzac: an 84% casualty rate. It must 

have been a hellish and disturbing experience for these men, so new to warfare, to partake in such ferocious 

fighting in the dreadful conditions of Lone Pine and to suffer so heavily in casualties. That the battle was 

hailed as a victory may have been some consolation, and for the Australians who took part, a triumph of will, 

determination and persistence.  

 The 4
th
 Battalion, according to their unit history, were not granted many gallantry awards, and it was 

an issue that rankled with many members for years after the war, as they felt that their contribution during 

the first two terrible days had been overlooked. 

 Of the 47 men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements who died as a result of the Lone Pine battle, 36 were killed 

in action, and 11 died of wounds over the next few weeks.  

 Of the 36 who were killed in action, only five have graves, all in the Lone Pine Cemetery. The other 

31 have their names listed on the Lone Pine Memorial. 

 William Cargill  [left] served with the AN&MEF from August, 

1914, until March, 1915. He enlisted in the 6
th
 Rfts/4

th
 Bn on 17 May, 

1915, and was killed in action at Lone Pine less than three months later, 

on 8 August, 1915. William was still only 21 years of age.  

 His younger brother, George Cargill, enlisted around the time 

of Williamôs death, at only 18 years of age. George won the DCM at 

Villers-Bretonneux for single-handedly taking out five German machine-

gun crews. 

 Twenty-six of those who died had only enlisted in May and June 

of 1915. In fact, the 11 who enlisted in June only served in the AIF for 

eight weeks total (they left Sydney on 16 June), most of which was 

occupied by the long voyage from Sydney to that remote piece of 

Turkish coastline.  

 In a few weeks, men had gone from being civilians in sunny 

NSW to losing their lives in one of the bloodiest and savage battles that 

Australians would take ever take part in. It was a very short and savage 

war with a tragic end for many of the new reinforcements. 

 Of the 11 men who died of wounds, two died in the 3
rd
 Field 

Ambulance on 7 August and are buried in the Beach Cemetery at Anzac. 

Three others died aboard hospital ships several days later and were buried at sea; their names are 

remembered on the Lone Pine Memorial.  Another five men died of their wounds later in August; four were 

buried in cemeteries in Egypt and one on the island of Lemnos.  

 The last soldier to die of wounds from the Lone Pine battle, Private 2154 William Attwood Davies, 

passed away in Egypt on 2 September, 1915, having lingered for over three weeks. 

 These men died very hard deaths. They suffered shocking wounds, often multiple, or extremely 

severe, óGSW head, brain exposedô or óGSW head, fractured skullô being examples in the brief entries in 

their service files. No one bothered much with the difference between óGSWô and óBWô as the end result was 

much the same. 

 Of the 69 seriously wounded men who were evacuated from Gallipoli, most made their way aboard 

hospital ships to Mudros on the island of Lemnos, where their wounds were assessed or to the hospitals of 

Egypt. Some of the more serious cases were evacuated again to hospitals in England.  

 A total of 30 men of the 69 wounded were evacuated to Australia with wounds severe enough to 

render them unfit for further military service. Of the 30, the earliest returned home in late August 1915, with 

the bulk of the rest sent home later in 1915 and early 1916. They were certainly very grave wounds, 

including amputations, loss of eyes, compound fractures of arms and legs, bullet wounds to lungs and other 

major organs of the torso.  

 Four of the 30 men evacuated to Australia were listed as suffering from shell shock, which 

contradicts the belief that none of the medical people of the period understood the causes and effects of the 

mental trauma some men suffered.  

 Private 2140 William Barrett  had a prosthesis fitted to his amputated leg in England before he was 

sent home in 1916. Private 2112 John Arkey, the last of the 30 wounded to be sent home, was listed as 
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dangerously ill at Malta for over a year, with severe shrapnel wounds to his hip and head. He was removed 

from the ódangerously illô list on 29 July, 1916, and placed on the óseriously illô list a few days later. Arkey 

was evacuated to a hospital in England on 22 August, 1916, and admitted there with a fractured skull and 

severe shrapnel wound to the hip. He was released from hospital in England in March, 1918, and returned to 

Australia in April, 1918. He passed away in 1936, still only 40 years of age.  

 He was not the only one who would die an early death. Private 2208 Joseph Neefs, a Belgian by 

birth, wounded at Lone Pine, was returned to Australia with severe wounds in March, 1916, and died in 

1919. Private 2175 Sydney Harry, though not wounded at Lone Pine, was shot in the head at Anzac on 25 

August, 1915, and returned to Australia soon after. He died in January 1924. His death at the time was 

identified as ósuicide, service-related depressionô owing to being wounded in action.  

 Private 2222 Walter Smith, also returned to Australia wounded in early 1916, suffered splintered 

ribs and a gunshot wound to his leg and lost the sight of his right eye. He died, still young, in 1930.  

 Private 2199 Leo Joseph Miller suffered a shrapnel wound to his right hip and was ready to return 

to duty in September, 1915. The AIF discovered he was only 14 years and eight months old; his date of birth 

being supplied by a desperate mother. He had already been discharged once in Australia for enlisting under-

age when Mum wrote to the AIF. His father was already on active service at Gallipoli. Leo was born on the 8 

December, 1900. He was returned to Australia on 3 January 1916, aged 15 years.   

 Of the 21 men who remained unwounded 

at Gallipoli, three were evacuated sick from Anzac 

around 15 August, and another three towards the 

end of August, mostly with dysentery, debility or 

enteric fever.  During September and October 

most of the rest were evacuated chronically sick, 

most with the same symptoms as above, due to the 

terrible food and living conditions. Private 2193 

Francis Norbet Maguire, having survived Lone 

Pine, was the last of the reinforcements to die at 

Gallipoli, killed in action on 12 September, 1915. 

He was only 18 years old. [Right: The headstone 

of Frank Norbet Maguire in the Lone Pine 

Cemetery.] 

 Of the original 155 men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements/4

th
 Battalion, only three men stayed unwounded 

and healthy with the unit until they were evacuated from Gallipoli towards the end of December. One of 

them was Clarence Roy McKerihan, who in 1916, whilst on leave, became the first Australian soldier to 

climb Mont Blanc. Clarence was transferred to the 56
th
 Battalion and was awarded the MSM during the war. 

He represented the AIF rugby union team in 1919 when it toured England.  

 His brother, Lieutenant Harold McKerihan , 2
nd

 Battalion AIF, died of wounds inflicted during the 

Battle of Lone Pine.  After the war, McKerihan became chairman of the State Bank of New South Wales and 

was knighted in 1961 for his voluntary services, especially with the WWII Australian Comforts Fund. 

McKerihan is pictured on the left in the photograph below, at the beginning of his climb to Mont Blanc. 

(Note both soldiers have donned the emu plumes in their hats.) 

 Some of the men who had been evacuated wounded 

started to return to Anzac from the hospitals on Lemnos and in 

Egypt later in 1915. Private 2179 John Ernest Jennings, 

wounded by shrapnel in the right arm on 6 August, 1915, was 

evacuated to Lemnos on 8 August before he was pronounced fit 

on 1 September and rejoined his battalion at Anzac on 3 

September, 1915. He was wounded again, six days later, this 

time fatally, and died on 9 September, 1915. His mother stated 

on his Roll of Honour form: ñThough unrecovered he would not 

leave his comrades to fight alone.ò  

 Others returned from wounds and sickness to rejoin the 

4
th
 Battalion at Gallipoli just before the evacuation of Anzac or 

later in Egypt during early 1916. At this stage of the war, of the 

original 155 enlistments, 62 men of the 6
th
 Reinforcements were available to serve on the Western Front. The 

AIF underwent a large reorganisation at the time due to a large number of men arriving from Australia. The 

newly healed veterans of the Gallipoli Campaign were mixed in among the new men to provide combat 
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experience to the new battalions of the 4
th
 and 5

th
 Divisions. The ódaughterô battalion of the 4

th
 Battalion was 

the 56
th
 Battalion. Twelve men of the 6

th
 Reinforcements would go into France serving in the 56

th
 Battalion, 

38 stayed with the 4
th
 Battalion and the other 12 would join different units. 

 Over the next three years, another 15 men of the 6th 

Reinforcements would die on the Western Front, six during 

1916, seven during 1917 and two in 1918.  

 Corporal 2109 John William Leininger [left] enlisted 

under the name of John Allen because of his German surname. 

He joined the battalion at Gallipoli on 4 August, 1915. He was 

wounded on 10 August and transferred to Zeitoun on 18 

August. He rejoined the battalion at Gallipoli on 7 December.  

 On 3 March, 1916, Jack was promoted to lance 

corporal at Tel-el-Kebir, Egypt. He was promoted to corporal 

on 3 August, 1916, in France. Jack was killed in action on 16 

August, 1916, at Pozieres and is buried between Pozieres and 

Mouquet Farm. 

 Of the 47 surviving men, 18 were returned to Australia 

severely wounded, medically unfit. Many of these men had 

been wounded two, three or even four times. Another four were 

sent home before the end of the war, medically unfit due to 

sickness or disease.  

 One man was discharged sick in England and another 

spent the entire war behind bars for various thieving offences.  

The wife of Private 2151 John Conwell, who fought at Lone 

Pine and was wounded at Fromelles with the 56
th
 Battalion, 

wrote to the AIF seeking information in 1918: ñMy husband 

arrived home this month with shell shock and a cot case é and 

I donôt think he will ever do another days work as he is helpless.ò 

 Another man, Private 2119 Archibald Baker McNair , decided to marry two days before he left 

Sydney in June, 1915. He was wounded at Lone Pine two months later and killed in action at Pozieres less 

than 12 months later. 

 Sergeant 2143 Leslie Hubert Elphinstone [right ] 

suffered bomb wounds to his right arm at Lone Pine and was 

evacuated to Lemnos, before returning to Anzac a few weeks 

later. He fought at Fromelles with the 56
th
 Battalion, was shot in 

the foot at Bullecourt in 1917, and hit in the arm by shrapnel 

during April, 1918. This last wound was the one which saw him 

sent home medically unfit. 

 This left 23 survivors of the original 155 men of the 6
th
 

Reinforcements, 4
th
 Battalion who fought through to the finish and 

were returned home to Australia, almost all during 1919. Of these 

23 survivors, 17 were already survivors of being evacuated 

wounded from Lone Pine in 1915.  

 Bernard John Conaty [L/Cpl 2130] suffered a bomb 

wound to the head at Lone Pine and returned to Gallipoli to serve 

with the 4
th
 Battalion until the Evacuation. He was shot in the leg 

at Passchendaele on 4 October, 1917, and then gassed during 

September, 1918. He passed away peacefully in 1968, at 74 years 

of age, having survived three wounds and almost four years of 

war.  

 Six men of the surviving 23 were twice WIA in France 

and one was wounded in action serving with the Camel Corps. A 

high proportion of these men were by this time corporals or 

sergeants, veterans in the true sense of the word; some were even 

lieutenants or higher. Five of these 23 surviving men wore the ribbons of the Military Medal for bravery in 

the field. Only 10 of the 23 were still serving with the 4
th
 Battalion, and seven were serving with the daughter 

56
th
 Battalion.  
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 Only several men came through the war without being removed 

from the trenches wounded or sick. One was McKerihan and another 

was Private 2160 Alexander James Forbes of Glebe, NSW [left]. 

Forbes went right through the Gallipoli Campaign and the Western Front 

and only had a couple of minor illnesses. Alexander Forbes was returned 

to Australia on 31 March, 1919.  

 One of the last men to return home was Private 2196 Roy 

McGarry , who married in England during April, 1919, and had to wait 

for the ófamily boatô which returned married men and their new wives 

during September 1919. Private 2246 Clarence William Downie was 

the last soldier to return home, in July 1920, but he was released from 

prison, having been gaoled for the civil offences of breaking and 

entering in the UK after the end of the war. Even so, he had been 

wounded at both Lone Pine and Pozieres and had seen a lot of action. 

 Of the 155 men who left Australia, 64 never returned. Forty-

eight were invalided to Australia as a result of wounds prior to the end of 

the war; 30 of them from the Lone Pine fight. Another 12 were sent 

home with sickness or disease early.  

 Unfortunately, the scenario was repeated amongst the 6
th
 

Reinforcements of the 1
st
, 2

nd
 and 3

rd
 Battalions, all of whom left Sydney on the same ship, and joined their 

mother units at Gallipoli only a few days before the great fight at Lone Pine. 

 A fitting tribute to all of the 6
th
 Reinforcements who died was posted in a Sydney newspaper by the 

mother of one of their number:   

 

OôHEA. ð In loving memory of our dear son, Private Michael OôHea who died of wounds received at Lone 

Pine, August 11, 1915, aged 23 years.   

He sleeps not in his native land,     

But ôneath the foreign skies.   

Far from those who loved him best,   

In a heroôs grave he lies. 

 

Like his many of his mates, Michael OôHeaôs war had lasted less than a few months from the time he walked 

into the recruiting office at Liverpool. Lest we forget. 

 

Endnote: Readers are referred to the Appendix of pictorial sources relating to the 6
th
 Reinforcements to 

the 4
th
 Battalion published in COBBeR 2 (e-mailed November 2015), where Stephen has provided additional 

photographs and notes relating to this batch of men.  

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

News item: óEMPLOYMENT OF ENEMY ALIENSô 
Melbourne, July 6 [1915]. 

The employment of enemy aliens on the staff of the University gave rise to a long discussion at last nightôs 

meeting of the University Council. Dr Leeper moved ñThat the services of unnaturalised citizens of any 

enemy country who may be in the employment of the University be dispensed with as soon as possible, 

provision being made for equitable compensation.ò He said it was not directed against any particular person. 

It would be a mark of loyalty and a symbol of the unity of the Empire to follow the example of Great Britain 

dealing with enemy aliens. It was a measure of safety and a wise precaution. Professor Mason said the 

circumstances in Australia were different from those in England. It was not for the University Council to 

perform acts of State. If they had any suspicions of these persons they should give information 

to the Defence Department. The two men affected by the motion were the lecturer on German (Herr von 

Dechend) and the teacher of music at the Conservatorium (Herr Scharf). Both had been in Australia many 

years, and had married Australian wives. The Defence authorities had investigated both cases, had 

intercepted correspondence and paid domiciliary visits and were satisfied with both men. After much 

discussion, the motion was finally carried in the following form: ñThat engagements of unnaturalised 

citizens of any enemy country, who may be in the employment of the University, be not renewed at the end of 

their present term of office.ò 

Source: óThe Advertiserô (Adelaide, SA), 7 July, 1915. Found on Trove. 
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The Battle of Krithia, 8 May, 1915 
Graham Hutchinson, Allambie Heights. 

 

hilst attending the 100
th
 anniversary of the Landing at Gallipoli ceremony on 25 April, 2015, and 

locating the site of my Dadôs trench [see DIGGER 53], I decided to take my youngest son Bryce 

and his wife Nicci to the Helles area. This would allow me to show Bryce where his grandfather, 

Bob Hutchinson [Pte 571, 8
th
 Bn, below right] was wounded when the Australian 2

nd
 Brigade advanced 

across open ground in daylight on 8 May, 1915, in an endeavour to take the village of Krithia. 

 On 5 May the entire 2
nd

 Brigade of the AIF, comprising the 5
th
, 

6
th
, 7

th
 and 8

th
 Battalions, assembled on Brighton Beach near Anzac 

Cove, and at 3 am were taken by boats to board the British destroyer 

Bulldog, which took the brigade to Cape Helles, 12 miles south. 

Arriving at 2 am on 6 May at the River Clyde, which had been run 

ashore at óVô Beach at Sedd el Bahr, the Australians disembarked and 

marched two miles north to bivouac for the next two days.  

 At 5.30 pm on 8 May the 2
nd

 Brigade was ordered to attack 

Krithia up Central Spur, with little notice given to Australian 

commanders by the British generals. The New Zealand forces were on 

the left of the Australian advance, and French troops were on the right. 

óAô Company (Bobôs company) of the 8
th
 Battalion was ordered to 

follow on after the 6
th
 Battalion. 

 As per the map below, óAô Company moved along a dry creek 

bed, and on reaching the reserve trench, was ordered to push on and 

reinforce the right side of the 6
th
 Battalion firing line. [Map from The 

White Gurkhas, Ron Austin, 1989.] Bob Hutchinsonôs diary of 8 May reads: 

Advanced about a mile in front of trenches. Made firing line 300 yards from Turks. Got wounded in leg and 

eventually got taken to dressing station. Next day, taken by mule ambulance to beach, and on 10/5/15 was 

put on Hospital Ship óBraemar Castleô for Malta.  

 

The following letter was written by my father from 

Malta to his parents in Wail, Victoria, and published 

in the óWest Wimmera Mailô on 9 July, 1915. 

 

Letter from the Front 
You will see by the above that I have been wounded, 

although possibly you have seen my name in the list 

of wounded long before you get this. I stopped a 

bullet with my right foot between the ankle and the 

toes. It made a mess of the bone so I am out of action 

for 3 months at least. [Found out since that he is not 

fit for active service again.] I have been operated on 

and am getting on all right. George Clements got 

two flesh wounds, one in the left shoulder, and one in 

the muscle of his right arm. He is in the convalescent 

hospital. They brought most of the wounded here. 

Donôt worry about us. 

 Ted Lee and George were lying alongside of 

me when I got hit. I had been 14 days under fire. We 

had a rough time the first few days after landing, and 

when the Australians had made a good footing they 

took the 2
nd

 Brigade around to where the English 

and French were, to lead a charge. We made a great 

name for ourselves, but we had a lot of wounded. We 

charged under heavy shell and machine-gun fire. We 

gained about 800 yards of country and killed an 

awful lot of Turks. Then we had to dig ourselves in 

about 200 yards from the Turksô trenches. Of course 

W 
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we lie down to do that and I suppose my feet must have been the most conspicuous part of me. I got hit about 

sundown, Saturday, May 8, and Clem got one after.  

 They took me back to the dressing station through the night, and I was put on a boat on the Monday 

with about 1 200 others. We sailed to Alexandria, where they took off the serious cases, and then they 

brought the rest of us around here. They may send me to England to get well as soon as I can go on crutches. 

I shouldnôt wonder if I limp at all that they will send me back to Australia. I would like to see more fighting 

though. 

 I wonôt tell you yet many of the things I saw, something awful, but one gets used to it. I lost my 

pocket book in the last charge we made; the one you gave me for my 21
st
 birthday. I donôt think there is much 

chance of my getting it back. The Turks will soon be no more. We advanced over a lot of country and I hear 

that the Allies are still making progress. The Indian troops are very proud of the Australians. The Indian 

Ghurkhas [sic] are considered the gamest and bravest soldiers in the world. The English and French troops 

call the Australians the óWhite Ghurkhasô. 

 Saw George, and I sent a cable to let you all know that we were well after our first big engagement. 

We couldnôt send separate ones as they cost 10d a word, and we didnôt have much money. Iôve only drawn 

about £20 altogether, so there is a lot coming to me. Everyone is very kind here. There are English nurses 

and AMC men. They look after us well. I am allowed to eat anything. We have a lot of visitors to see us. I 

canôt tell you much about Malta because I was brought from the ship to the hospital in a Red Cross wagon. 

 There are a lot of Australians here, and some of the Dimboola boys. Kirby Wright, Bill Dagger, Will 

Brunton, and the two DôAltons are wounded. One of them, Henry, was killed. Three from Dimboola are 

dead, Walker, Bond and Baensch. Then George and I from Wail, so you can see we were right there. 

 George and I had the pleasure of potting a few Turks before they got us, and we expect to get more 

of them yet. One night George shot a Turk about 10 yards off. It was dark and we didnôt know if he was dead 

or not, but next morning we found him seriously wounded, so we hopped out of the trenches and took him to 

our doctor. He had crawled to within 10 yards of us in the dark.  

 We had some thrilling experiences. I shot two snipers about 200 yards from our trench. When the 

firing eased off some of us used to go out and take the enemyôs equipment off the dead Turks. We got some 

good curios, but I lost my pack in the last charge.  

 Well, I donôt want you to worry about me. I will be going about on crutches in about a month. We 

havenôt lost our good spirits yet. I have just had a 1d shave. Hoping you are all well and not worrying. 

Remember me to all friends. George has just come in to see me, and is going to post this. He is almost well 

again. 

 

Whilst he was in Valetta Hospital in Malta, Bobôs mate from the Dimboola Rifle Club and fellow soldier in 

the trench photo, George Clements, was also wounded in the battle for Krithia on 8 May, and he too was 

admitted to Valetta Hospital. George Clements [Pte 553, 8
th
 Bn] wrote to his mother in Wail, and the letter 

was printed in the óHorsham Timesô on 6 July, 1915. [The full letter was published in DIGGER 27, pages 45-

46. To fit with the theme of this article, Georgeôs description of the fighting at Krithia has been extracted and 

included here ï Ed.] 

 

Soldierôs letter 
Private George Clements 
The following letter has been written by George to his mother at Wail: 

é At last morning came [of 26 April], and we were shifted from our trenches to some more further on the 

right of us, where we stayed for the next four days [during this time the óTrench Photoô was taken ï Ed.], 

coming out on Friday morning and going to the beach for a rest. Next Sunday we went into the trenches 

again, where we stayed until Wednesday morning, when we were again returned to the beach. At 1 oôclock 

next morning we were sent on board a destroyer and were taken to another part of the Peninsula. 

 We landed about 5.30, and marched two or more miles inland, where we dug ourselves in to escape 

from the shrapnel. We stayed until Saturday, and at 11.30 started for the firing line. We advanced and dug 

reserve trenches [see photo next page] and had just about finished them when we were ordered to advance, 

and then we got it properly.  

 Shrapnel was bursting all around and amongst us. But we went forward, with men falling every yard 

from the enemyôs rifle fire, which was assisted with many machine guns. We kept on advancing until we got 

to the firing line, and then charged for about 200 yards or more through a terrible hail of lead, and I shall 

never forget it as long as I live. 
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Left : The 8
th
 Battalion on the afternoon of 8 

May, 1915, digging in at its new bivouac 

immediately before the receipt of the order to 

attack. AWM WDJ161. 

 

 When we reached within 50 yards of 

the trenches our boys were making for, we 

could see it was full, so we had to dig fresh 

trenches for ourselves. It was here Bob 

[Hutchinson] got shot through the foot and 

had to retire. As we were digging for our lives, 

two chaps on my left were hit. Jim Bryant and 

I were digging for all we were worth, as the 

bullets were giving us a hot time. Two men on 

our right were also hit, and it was here that I 

got one in the left shoulder, and it caused me a great deal of pain for a while.  

 Word was sent along the firing line that more ammunition was wanted, and volunteers were called 

for to fetch it. Jim and I went for it, and it seems marvellous that we ever got back, as bullets were dropping 

at our feet and whistling all around us. However, we managed to get back safely.  

 But the trip back I shall never forget. We passed wounded men crying for help and mercy, but we 

could not stop. I never want such a trip again. It was awful. I think it is the worst part of war to see a 

wounded man and not be able to help him. I even had to pass poor old Bob, but duty was first, and hard to 

do. 

 We got to headquarters at last, and were telling them that the firing line wanted ammunition, when 

all of a sudden my rifle was knocked out of my hand and I felt a shock, like a severe electric shock, in my 

right arm. I was shot through the muscle of the arm. Jim bandaged up both my wounds and insisted on my 

going back to the dressing station. It was hard to leave old Jim on his own, but he wouldnôt hear of me going 

back [to the front-line], so I took his pack and started for the hospital. 

 I arrived at the dressing station alright, and after having my wounds fixed up, started for the base 

hospital down by the beach. I joined four more chaps in the same plight as myself, making for the same 

place; so we moved along together very slowly, as some of them had it in the leg. 

 About half-way from the beach ï in fact, not near half-way, as it was about three miles to the beach 

ï we struck some ammunition carts, so crawled on board and had a ride nearly to the hospital. I slept by a 

blackfellow that night, but it took more than that to stop me from sleeping, although I woke up often from the 

pain of my scratches. 

 Next morning, all who were able to walk were packed off to a barge, which took us to the ship we 

are now on board. Yes, on Sunday morning at about nine oôclock we were on board a ship and were looked 

after with great care.  

 Gordon Brown [Pte 526 Gordon Thomas Brown, 8
th
 Bn], from Nhill, had a wound through the 

thigh (only a flesh wound like mine). He is on board, so we have knocked about together ever since. We were 

all issued with two blankets that night. I slept on the promenade deck. On Monday morning they brought 

another barge-load on board, and who must be in it but Bob! It seemed very strange that two from the same 

part should be wounded together and lobbed on the same boat. 

 We left port at 9 oôclock that night and went to Alexandria, arriving there early Thursday morning. 

There they took off the very bad cases, such as broken bones and serious wounds. Thank God I didnôt have to 

go off. 

 We left Alexandria the next day, after dinner, and have been sailing smoothly ever since. News is 

scarce. Stationery is unprocurable, so we canôt write. I picked this paper up on the Gallipoli Peninsula, so 

was very lucky. Well, dear Mother, no doubt we have been through two very fierce battles, and I really think 

God will see me through this war, and before long I will be home again. 

 Trusting you will receive this letter safely, I will close. I expect to be back in the firing line in a week 

or fortnight. 

 From your loving son,  

 George. 

George was well out in his estimation of a return to the firing line ï he was repatriated to Australia via 

Alexandria and was discharged in 1916.  

*  *  *  
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I took Bryce and Nicci to Redoubt Cemetery, where Australian troops from the 2
nd

 Brigade once littered the 

slopes towards which the cemetery faces. The Australian front line was 100 metres north of the cemetery. A 

total of 517 Australian soldiers were killed and 539 were wounded in one hour in this battle of 8 May, 1915. 

Very few have been identified.  

 

Right: The scene after the attack by the 2
nd

 

Infantry Brigade. Several bodies are lying on the 

ground and a rifle is in the left foreground. 

AWM C01079. 

 

 I hope that my son will one day be able 

to show his sons and nephews, not only the 

location of the trench on Boltonôs Ridge, but 

also where the Battle of Krithia took place. 

 FFFAIF member Lambis Englezos, who 

ófoundô the lost Diggers near Pheasant Wood, 

Fromelles, in 2008, believes he has found the 

mass grave of at least another 143 Australian soldiers killed in this battle, as reported on ó60 Minutesô in 

2015. Unfortunately, again the authorities are reluctant to provide assistance unless any ground search first 

finds remains. But no amount of obfuscation will deter Lambis from his mission. He believes we have a 

moral obligation to find and recover our war dead, and I agree with him. 

 

_________________________________________________________________ 

 

After the Evacuation: Sgt Ken Millar, 2nd Battalion 
Contributed by Patric Millar, Glen Innes. 

 

ack to Egypt again after Xmas 1915. Again I travelled in the Huntsgreen (ex Derfflinger) and we 

spent Xmas Day on this rotten ship ï a limited amount of bully beef and biscuits was our fare. I had a 

funny experience after we tied up in Alexandria (27/12/1915). óCô was the company for duty after we 

got settled down; this meant we supplied all fatigues and guards, etc. No leave was given to go ashore. Some 

of our hard heads suggested to me that I march them down the gangway to load or unload something or 

other. I got a few selected blokes together and Sergeant Bill Douglas [unidentified] said he wanted to be in 

it. He was an unknown character to me but I let him come. Host [2/Lt Walter Joseph Host] did not approve 

of the idea at all. 

 We got behind the sheds on the wharf and I gave them one hour to get 

back after they had a feed at one of the many Greek cafes along the waterfront. 

They all turned up on time except Douglas, and we were about to go back to the 

ship when he turned up in a horse-drawn vehicle called a gharry; he was as full 

as a boot. We managed to get him on board and he lay on our mess deck out like 

a light. Capt [Roy] Harrison  found him there and called on Host and me to 

witness how drunk he was. Just how much Harrison knew of this escapade I 

donôt know.  
 We eventually got into camp (28/12/1915) in the desert at a place called 

Tel-el-Kebir, where we found thousands of partially trained men, and it was 

decided to make a 5
th
 Division. Half the officers and other ranks were of the 1

st
 

Division and the 4
th
 Brigade were to go to the 5

th
 Division and both lots 

reinforced from the surplus reinforcements. Tiny Host and me were left in the 

2
nd

 Battalion and our old mates, óBlueô Harvey [Lt Charles Harvey MC] and 

Bromhall  [unidentified] went to the 54
th
 Battalion.  

 We got a few reinforcement officers in and promotion came to men like [Herbert] Youden, [Joseph] 

Collingwood, Bob Murray , Gordon Chant and Mal Cotton , who became captains, and sergeants were 

made lieutenants. Tom Mann, Tiny Host and myself were in the ones made from the 2
nd

 and some blokes 

came from the Light Horse: Paddy Ryan DCM was one of these. Host, Ryan and myself were posted to óDô 

Company under the command of that prince of all company commanders ï óDadô [Verner] Rowlands. 

 

B 
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Determined to serve: Robert Edward Hemmings 
(enlisted as Robert Edwards) 

Greg Swinden, Evatt. 

 

obert Edward Hemmings was born at Redfern, Sydney, on 14 April, 1898, to Edward and Ethel 

Hemmings (nee Devine). Little is known of his early life, although he later claimed four years of 

service in the senior cadets (29
th
 Battalion). When war broke out in 1914, Robert was determined to 

serve his country, and in doing so, enlisted and was discharged medically unfit on no less than five occasions. 

[In fact, he may have enlisted six times, as on one set of AIF enlistment papers he claimed he was rejected 

for service in 1914 due to insufficient chest expansion, but there is no record of this attempt to enlist.]    

 In June 1916, 18 year old Robert was working in Dubbo as a farm hand/horse driver when he made 

his first recorded enlistment. On 28 June, 1916, he joined the AIF at the Dubbo Depot Battalion and three 

days later completed his medical assessment at the Sydney AIF Depot (Royal Agricultural Showground) and 

became Private 36005 Robert Edwards.  

 Robert was described as 5ô9ò tall, with dark hair, hazel eyes and a dark complexion. He had a 

noticeable scar on his left calf. He was of the Church of England faith and gave his name as óRobert 

Edwardsô and next of kin as his father, Mr Edward Edwards of 28 Park Road, Glebe, NSW (most likely Park 

Lane in Glebe). He later stated he enlisted under an assumed name as his mother would not give her 

permission for him to enlist (which was required for all enlistees who were under 21).  

 Robertôs initial service was short-lived, as on 18 August, 1916, he was discharged as medically unfit. 

Later records would indicate that, due to a fall in 1914, he was prone to epileptic fits. He had completed 50 

days service.   

 This however did not deter Robert, as on 29 November, 1916, he re-enlisted in Sydney as Private              

51503 Robert Edwards. He declined to mention his previous medical discharge. Initially, he was allocated 

to the Signal Training Company at the Royal Agricultural Showground before being transferred to Liverpool 

Camp as a reinforcement to the 33
rd
 Battalion. This service was also short-lived, as he suffered a fit and was 

transferred to the 2
nd

 Depot Company on 16 December, and then discharged medically unfit on 9 January, 

1917, having completed 42 days service. 

 Robert then decided to change tack and applied a new approach to serving his nation during the war: 

he joined the Royal Australian Navy.  On 5 February, 1917, Robert Edwards enlisted as an officerôs steward 

3
rd

 class (5975) at the RANôs depot ship (HMAS Penguin) in Sydney. Once again, he was initially assessed 

as medically fit (as the Navy had no knowledge of his previous medical condition).  His naval service record 

states he was 5ô9İò tall, with dark hair, grey eyes, dark complexion and scar on left calf. His father in Glebe 

was still listed as his next of kin. 

 After his initial enlistment, Robert was transferred to the main RAN training depot, HMAS 

Cerberus, at Williamstown, Victoria, on 10 February. Here he served until his propensity for fits was 

discovered and he was once again discharged medically unfit, on 17 July, 1917. His navy record described 

him as ósatisfactory for ability and very good for conductô, but he was not entitled to compensation or a war 

pension for being discharged invalided.  On this occasion he had completed 162 days service. 

 On 14 November, 1917, Robert Edwards once again enlisted in the AIF at Victoria Barracks, 

Sydney, and became Sapper 84227. He gave his trade as labourer and was now 5ô11ò tall.  Initially, he was 

allocated to the Engineer Reinforcement Company in Sydney before being dispatched to the 7
th
 Tunnelling 

Battalion at Seymour Camp, Victoria, on 3 December, 1917. Yet again his medical condition caused him to 

be discharged. On 20 February, 1918, he was transferred to Broadmeadows Camp and then discharged on 11 

March, 1918, having completed 117 days service.   

 Robert Edwards remained undeterred, and on 24 May, 1918, he re-enlisted yet again, as Private 

90144 in Sydney. He gave his trade as farm hand and was allocated to the 19
th
 (NSW) General Service 

Reinforcements and was allocated a new service number of 65974. By this stage of the war the AIF was 

desperate for new recruits, and perhaps the training staff decided to turn a blind eye to Robertôs occasional 

fits. Certainly, none of his several service records show that he was anything other than a well-disciplined 

and effective soldier/sailor. 

 Robertôs final enlistment in the AIF proved to be effective, and he embarked in the troopship HMAT 

A41 Bakara at Sydney, on 4 September, 1918, for overseas service. Prior to his departure, he married his 17 

year old sweetheart, Dorothy Agnes MacGregor, on 24 August, 1918, at St Josephôs (Roman Catholic) 

Church at Newtown (Robert converted to the Roman Catholic faith in order to marry Dorothy). She became 

his new next of kin, residing at 32 Charles Street, in Enmore. While en-route to England in October, Robert 

R 
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was hospitalised onboard the troopship for influenza. Private Robert Edwards arrived in England on 14 

November, 1918, three days after the Armistice. 

 On arrival in England he was dispatched to the AIF Training Camp at Codford and allocated to the 

5
th
 Training Battalion. He then spent his time undergoing training, interspersed with brief bouts of illness 

which saw him in hospital. In early 1919, Robert was allocated as a reinforcement to the 4
th
 Infantry 

Battalion but never formally served with the unit. His medical condition once again came to the fore and on 

16 March, 1919, he embarked in the troopship HMT Czaritza for return to Australia.    

 The Czaritza steamed through the Mediterranean and arrived at Alexandria on 5 April, 1919. It was 

here that Robert was transhipped to the hospital ship Dunluce Castle, which departed on 7 April. The 

Dunluce Castle docked in Sydney on 18 May, 1919, and Robert disembarked and was sent on leave. He was 

eventually discharged as medically unfit (again) on 16 August, 1919. On this occasion, he had served in the 

AIF for 15 months and was later awarded the British War Medal for his service, as he had embarked for 

overseas service. (As Robert had arrived in England after the Armistice, and had not seen active service in 

France, he was not eligible for the Victory Medal.) 

 Robert and Dorothy were reunited and lived in Sydney. Robert advised the Army in 1937 that his 

real surname was óHemmingsô and that he had enlisted under an assumed name. The Army had also 

discovered, when compiling AIF service records in the 1920s, that Robert had enlisted in the AIF on four 

separate occasions; they never realised that he had served in the Navy for five months! Upon return to 

civilian life, Robert became a moulder, producing timber and plaster mouldings for the building industry. 

 On 12 July, 1941, Robert Edward Hemmings reported to the Recruiting Depot at Martin Place, 

Sydney, and formally enlisted in the 2
nd

 AIF as Private NX 38612 on 14 July. He gave his correct name 

when enlisting but amended his date of birth to 14 April, 1902, lowering his age by four years. His real date 

of birth was soon discovered and, despite being considered over-age for enlistment, he was accepted for 

service in the Australian Army Medical Corps (AAMC) as a medical orderly and sent to the AAMC Training 

Depot at Tamworth, NSW.   

 On completion of his training, Robert was posted to the 2/12
th
 Australian General Hospital, which 

had been set up in Colombo, Ceylon (now Sri Lanka) in October, 1941. He embarked on the hospital ship 

HMAHS Wanganella at Sydney on 12 December, 1941, and arrived at Colombo on 28 December. He was 

soon fully employed in the hospital dealing with sick personnel returning from the Middle East, via Ceylon.  

 Following the fall of Singapore in February 1942, and the invasion of the Netherlands East Indies in 

March, Ceylon was flooded with military personnel and civilian evacuees who had escaped from the 

Japanese; many of whom were sick or wounded. Additionally, the 16
th
 and 17

th
 Infantry Brigades of the 6

th
 

Division were temporarily located in Ceylon during March-July 1942 due to the fear of Japanese invasion. 

The port of Trincomalee, on the northeast coast, was a major Allied naval base, with thousands of personnel 

passing through on a regular basis.  Overall, the 2/12
th
 Australian General Hospital was kept busy with many 

sick, wounded and injured Allied personnel throughout 1942. 

 The 2/12
th
 Australian General Hospital departed Colombo, in the Wanganella, on 9 January, 1943, 

and arrived back in Sydney on 11 February. It was then relocated to Warwick, Queensland, where it took 

over the buildings and facilities at Scots College. Robert was promoted to lance corporal on 22 January, 

1944, and transferred to No. 1 Australian Orthopaedic Hospital (located at Newton Park in Toowoomba) on 

16 June, 1944.  He was discharged from the 2
nd

 AIF on 23 October, 1945, on compassionate grounds.   

 Overall, Robert had completed 1563 days service in the 2
nd

 AIF, including 394 days active service 

overseas. None of the medical complaints that had dogged him during World War I were apparent during 

World War II, and for his service he was awarded the Defence Medal, War Medal 1939-45 and the 

Australian Service Medal 1939-45.     

 Although his military service in World War II was faultless, his family life had suffered. Robert had 

re-converted to the Church of England faith in 1942 and he and Dorothy were divorced on 13 October, 1944.  

He later married Jessie Wallace Sneddon at Balmain and they remained together until his death. In 

retirement he lived at Gorokan on the NSW Central Coast.  

 Robert Edward Hemmings died in Wyong Public Hospital on 14 October, 1982, and was cremated.  

His ashes were scattered in the gardens at the Palmdale Cemetery at Ourimbah. Jessie died on 24 October, 

1992, and was also cremated. 

 

Have you returned your FFFAIF survey which was enclosed with DIGGER 53 (December 2015 issue)? 

The committee would appreciate hearing from as many members as possible. Please return your survey by 

the end of March. Mail to our PO Box (details on page 2) or scan and email to membership@fffaif.org.au. 
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A nurseôs experiences, August-December, 1918 
Sister Emily Taylor, AANS. 

Contributed by Frev Ford, Montrose. 

 

AMBULANCE CONVOY 
Leaving our base hospital at Wimereux on August 6 [1918], with three other sisters, we joined a convoy of 

seven ambulance cars in Boulogne, all bound from different base hospitals for different casualty clearing 

stations. We left Wimereux at 6 pm, and Boulogne at 8 pm, and travelled all night in the car till we reached 

61 CCS at Vigora Court [sic ï Vignacourt] at 8 oôclock next morning. The drivers of the convoy were not 

too sure of the way. In parts the road was bad, and the drivers had only maps to guide them.  

 The night was dark and when we nearly reached Doulour [sic ï probably Doullens] lights had to be 

extinguished, so it meant stopping on the road for two hours till dawn. We slept a bit sitting up in the car, and 

although tired, were much amused at the situation. No lights were allowed on account of the bombing and 

much traffic passed through Doulour.  

 The sisters were deposited at the different casualty clearing stations. One station gave us tea, bread 

and butter at 6 am, which was much appreciated. Arriving at 61 CC Station, the matron, a very pleasant 

Scotch woman, gave us breakfast, and introduced us to a marquee, where we unstrapped our baggage, put up 

the stretchers, and tried to sleep. The marquee was merely a canvas shelter, with nothing in it. Just outside 

ran the light railway which brought the patients to the hospital all day long, and then ran the evacuated 

patients to the train. It sounded exactly like a switch-back railway coming and going all day and night. Of 

course it was very useful and very easy for the patients.  

 Overhead the aeroplanes were busy also, and the firing from their little machine guns was enough to 

keep anybody awake. After three strenuous nights work in this place, we were ordered to proceed to No. 55 

CCS which was just being settled down on a plot of ground between Vacquemont [Vecquemont] and Douai 

[Daours]. The cars were waiting for us before we came off duty. We had breakfast, and packed up in a very 

short time, and away we went to No. 55. 

 We arrived at lunch time, and were introduced to bell tents just erected. Two sisters occupied each 

tent. We soon unpacked, fixed up our stretchers, and tried to sleep during the afternoon ready for night duty 

again, but it was almost impossible to sleep ï the camp was so busy. Nothing was in order, and patients were 

arriving, so it was all bustle and noise round about. Here another sister and I did night duty for three weeks. 

The wards were full to overflowing. Patients were being brought from the operating theatre all night long, 

and as we had no vacant bed, they were simply placed on the ground on their stretchers between the 

bedsteads and up the centre of the tent till there was scarcely room to place oneôs foot. 

 It was there I found a friend of mine, although I did not recognise him, he looked so ill, and the 

lights were dim, and I had no time to trouble about names. But he and another boy were exceptionally ill, and 

it worried me to think they were on the stretchers on the ground, and I had not a bed to put them 

into. Besides, they both needed resuscitating, and I wanted to get them warmer than I could on those 

stretchers. The boy had just had one leg amputated, the other leg opened up and put in splint, and the left arm 

also fixed up. The orderly managed to get me a mattress each for these boys, so when sufficiently recovered 

from the anaesthetic I moved them from the stretcher to the mattresses. The boys said it was Heaven, and this 

little friend of mine said ñDonôt you know me?ò Of course I did, but he looked so changed. Then he told me 

his name. He is now in a London hospital, after 15 weeks in bed. The stump is healed, but the other knee has 

been giving a lot of trouble. 

 As soon as the boys were sufficiently recovered from their operations, they were evacuated to base 

hospitals; some remaining with us for one or two nights, others longer. All were suffering from multiple 

wounds, and were very ill indeed. 

 In the midst of all this night work, Fritz would come over, just about 10 oôclock, with bombs. The 

three whistles blew, which meant lights out immediately, and then it was a case of being in suspense till the 

bombs were dropped, and the ñall clearò whistle sounded. But one would no sooner be hard at work, than the 

three whistles would go again, and so on for several times during night.  

 It was at this place I first saw a German plane brought down in flames. The cheers were tremendous. 

Since then I have seen several brought down. The patients did not notice the bombing very much, because 

they were always given something to induce sleep and relieve pain. Some of the wounded boys were very 

nervous if awake, because they were still suffering from the shock of their wounds and their operations. 

 We were in this spot till August 30, when all remaining patients were evacuated, and all tents pulled 

down and packed up, with the equipment loaded on lorries and sent to another site between the villages of 

Dernan Court [Dernancourt] and Biuere [Buire-sur-lôAncre], called Edgehill by the British. It was my turn to 
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do day duty in the resuscitation ward. The boys were all very cold and collapsed when brought in. They were 

all restless and thirsty. The thirst was one which took days to satisfy. In the ward the boys could not be put to 

bed till they were warmed and rested. Their feet were always wet and cold, so the boots and socks were first 

removed and the feet warmed. Only 31 per cent were expected to recover sufficiently for operations, but 

during the period it was 50 per cent. All the boys had multiple wounds and their condition was most serious. 

 On September 16 we evacuated all patients again and prepared to move on through Peronne to 

Doingt. The hospital was packed up and away, but the sisters remained that night, and were to have gone on 

next day. At midnight there was a terrible cyclone, and as we were camped on the side of a hill every tent 

came down except one. The sisters were as wet as if they had just come out of the sea, and all their 

possessions were drenched, including every bed. Some sisters were pinned beneath the tent poles, and had to 

wait to be rescued. Mine was the lucky tent which did not come down, so we two in that tent supplied what 

clothes we could, and the rest of the sisters had to go to Amiens by car, which took a couple of hours. One 

sister developed nephritis, through a chill she got that night.  

 The storm was a terrible one: thunder and lightning and torrents of rain such as we get in the tropical 

parts of Australia. The day happened to be fine and sunny, so we dried all the clothes, blankets and bedding, 

and packed up ready to move on, but somehow we were forgotten, and we all had to sleep in one marquee on 

stretchers, which carried the wounded, and in our clothes, too, for we could not unpack and all got into the 

little marquee. 

 Next morning we proceeded to Doingt. Arriving at lunch time we found Australian boys digging us 

in in our bell tents. Each sister had her stretcher placed three feet deep in the ground, in what looked exactly 

like a grave. It was done to protect us somewhat from the bombing. As soon as our belongings were under 

cover we started work in the ward tents. Patients were lying on stretchers everywhere, before there was even 

time to arrange the bedsteads. The surgeons were all hard at work, and the most scientific work was done 

under the simplest conditions. There was nothing but a bit of canvas for protection, and the mud floor to 

walk on. The bedsteads stood in mud, and many patients were simply on stretchers placed in the mud. 

Stretchers with patients placed handy for evacuation were just covered up with tarpaulins for a bit of 

protection. 

 The weather was bad during September and October, and there never was time to do much to the 

camp. Many things had to be left behind on account of limited transport. The main thing was to get to the 

wounded, and this the CC Stations succeeded very well in doing during the great advance. Fifteen hundred 

patients would pass through the CC Station in one night when necessary, and I have seen the tents so 

crowded that many had to remain outside all night, and that during very bad weather. German wounded 

would be among the number.  

 When one considers how rapid was the advance and how every bit of road and railway and bridge 

had to be repaired as the advance went along, and how much transport of every kind there was, well it was 

just marvellous. We travelled along the roads with every kind of transport, even heavy guns well 

camouflaged were being drawn slowly up by traction engines. All the way was nothing but devastation. 

Every house in every village was destroyed, and destitute of civilians. The furniture had been tossed up by 

explosions and landed down again in ruined heaps. 

 At Doingt we saw several German planes come down. Sad to say one night several boys of our 37
th
 

Battalion band were killed. They were billeted near us. Some were killed outright and some died at the CCS. 

Peronne, of course, is in ruins and the Australians have named the square ñRoo de Kangerò [sic ï Roo de 

Kanga]. 

 From Mont St Quentin we viewed the valley of the Somme, where our boys endured so much in the 

winter of 1916. We stood on the ridge and thought about it and them. From Doingt we visited the famous 

French tunnel, and went through a mile of it from Bellicourt to Riqueval. We were kindly taken by a colonel 

whom we knew. We descended about 60 steps leading from the cellar of a large house at Bellicourt. These 

were made by the Germans who used the tunnel for their troops and as part of the Hindenburg defence 

scheme. The canal running through the tunnel is laden with barges which the troops occupied and have left 

very much damaged. The tunnel was very dark, and we each carried a lighted candle. The Germans had it lit 

up with electric light, but it could not be used just then. 

 Leaving Doingt on October 19, we started work in Premont, where I did night duty again and had 

my first experience of listening to the shells going overhead all one night. Here we could only take patients 

with abdominal wounds, penetrating chest wounds, and seriously fractured femurs. We could not evacuate 

any patients on account of being so far advanced that the train could not get up; yet it was necessary for a 

hospital to be there. We were near Bohein [Bohain], which was in ruins, though not completely. Here the 

civilians told me how happy they were to be relieved after four years of captivity, and they told us how the 
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Germans made our prisoners work and how they starved them. Civilians all looked as though they needed 

medical attention, too. 

 Coming on leave on November 1, we were to have been the first British women to leave Bohein 

[Bohain] by train since the war. Getting up at 4 am in the bitter cold, we waited on the station from 5.11 am, 

only to discover that part of the line had been bombed and the train would not be leaving that day. Next day 

we made another start at 4 am and motored to Amiens, where we caught the train for Boulogne. From 

Edgehill we travelled to many places. We saw Albert in complete ruin, also the ruined cathedral from which 

the figure of the Virgin Mary has now fallen. Edgehill is just threaded with sandstone trenches and riddled 

with shell holes and thick with barbed wire, as is also the rest of the country.  

 The village of Dernan Court [sic] was the scene of some bitter fighting; the village having changed 

hands seven times with us and the enemy. There was also a ruined CCS abandoned in the March retreat. It 

was composed of huts, and evidently was a comfortable station before the retreat. From the ruins we 

gathered in many useful little things to help to make our own place more convenient. We were warned 

always to be very careful of booby traps left everywhere by the Germans.  

 It is the best thought of all to think there will be no more dying and wounded boys. 

 

AUSSIE NURSES IN FRANCE 
WITH THE GREAT ADVANCE  
MAITLAND NURSEôS EXPERIENCES 

Sister Emily Beatrice Taylor, writing to her mother, Mrs George Taylor, of Charles Street, West Maitland, 

from France, on December 4 [1918] states: 

Most people thought we were on the right road to win, but did not anticipate such a really swift victory. We 

could not go wrong since July last. It was my privilege to be at a casualty clearing station in all that great 

advance. I was with the 55
th
 CCS, attached to the 4

th
 Army.  

 It was fine being with the boys on the road when we were moving up, as we did every two or three 

weeks. It meant packing up everything, including the tents which made our wards, and putting them all into 

wagons and travelling for miles to a new site, which would simply be a ploughed field by the roadside and 

fearfully muddy during September and October. Here we would pitch our camp, and before bedsteads could 

be arranged hundreds of patients would have to be attended to.  

 The scenes were appalling, yet the most scientific work was being done under those trying 

conditions, and as soon as we could get near the boys. Often the sisters from the CCS would have to take 

refuge at another casualty clearing station. That was when shells came into the compound. I had many 

thrilling experiences of shelling when on night duty and too busy to trouble much; but I heard every whizz. 

The Germans shelled all night, but fortunately the shells went over us.  

 One night at the end of October, when we were at Vremont [sic ï Premont], near Bohein [Bohain], a 

long way behind the Hindenburg Line, the bombing was very persistent. I saw our men bring many German 

planes down in flames. I shall never forget the terrific bombardments night after night, and the way in which 

the sky was lit up by gunfire. It was like a semi-circle of lightning all round us. No Germans could live 

through it, and it was that which settled them.  

 Can you imagine how terrific and constant this was for four months? I was afraid I would never 

stand it; but when you have so many wounded men to look after you have no time to think of yourself. Being 

so fully occupied helps one. The most awful moments were when we could do nothing but wait in suspense 

for all the bombs to drop. One could not work in the dark, and all lights were always extinguished. 

 

On December 29, 1918, Sister Taylor wrote:-  
A tremendous load has been lifted, and we all feel the difference very much on this side of the world. It is 

such a relief to know that no more boys are being killed and wounded.  We are working much the same ï our 

hospital keeps full of chronic cases and sick.  

 The prisoners who came from Germany have given us a lot of work. It is just cruel to see 

them. Every man who sits at the Peace Conference should first visit our hospital. Such sights they would 

never forget, and if they stayed for a week it would be better still. Then they would know something of the 

real suffering our men still have to endure. However, the stream will soon get less, and although we expect to 

spend the winter in France, I think it will be the last. We signed our demobilisation papers to-day, so that is a 

start in the right direction. I am sending you a little sketch hurriedly written, about my casualty clearing 

station experiences.  

 No punishment can be too great for Germany, and nobody can understand it as we who see for 

ourselves. President Wilson and every man who intends to sit at the Peace Conference should come and see 
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these men in all our hospitals. It is a most pathetic scene, and speaks of long drawn-out suffering. It is the 

biggest crime of the war. In some of the camps prisoners were treated well, but it shows the bad treatment to 

have been deliberate. We get some train-loads of prisoners looking quite all right, but there are thousands 

who have been treated cruelly. 

Source: óThe Maitland Weekly Mercuryô (NSW), Saturday, 5 April, 1919. 

 

The Gallipoli Landing: óA pretty good gambleô 
Private FH Richardson, writing from hospital to his sister (Mrs Lee, of Cremorne Street, Unley), says:  

I am going to put in for a discharge [from hospital ï Ed.], so if there are any troops leaving for Gallipoli next 

week I may be chosen to go back to the front with the next lot. We are sick of being here in Egypt. You may 

think itôs only a kid, but every jack one of us are the same. We want to get back to see how our own mates 

are faring. As for fear, well, you donôt have time to think of it. Of course, many a man feels scared when the 

shrapnel starts bursting all round and kicking up the dust all over you, but their artillery is nothing to ours. 

Between our land batteries and gunboats, the enemy must have had an awful time.  

 We had a rather ticklish job with their big guns for a little while, but our warships have been dealing 

old Harry to them, and I think by now they must have most of the Turksô guns silenced. We have good 

trenches now. It is rotten luck to get hit. Only about one in every ten that gets hit is killed, so you see we 

have a pretty good gamble.  

 You ask if I am really glad that I came to the front. Our company was chosen to be the landing party 

for our battalion at Gallipoli. I can assure you that there was not a prouder man than yours truly, although we 

had the toughest job of any. I never felt more pleased in my life than when we steamed out of Lemnos Island 

for Gallipoli on the battleship Prince of Wales.  

 It would have made anyoneôs heart glad to be here to see the sight. All the war boats sailed in a line, 

twisting and turning like a huge snake as they followed the leader. Then came the battleships, and then the 

torpedo destroyers and torpedo boats. We cruised about till nearly morning. About 1.30 am we had a good 

hot meal, and then got ready to get into the boats to go ashore. The rowing boats were towed by motor boats.  

 All went well until we got near the shore, all packed in the boat like sardines. All of a sudden we 

heard a single rifle shot, and silence for about half a minute (which seemed like an hour). Then hell was let 

loose, and hundreds of shots from machine guns and every other sort of gun began to pepper us. We all 

ducked our heads as low as we could, and kept quiet. Then the motor boats cast off so that we could run our 

boats aground, but we had to row a good way and with 40 men in one of those big shipôs boats it is no light 

job to pull with only four oars. Some of our poor boys never landed. The bullets were like hailstones.  

 When the boats did run aground we all had to jump out in the water, and I, being in the stern of the 

boat, jumped into the deepest water, with a box of ammunition. I was in water up to my armpits. I nearly fell 

over three times, but we got ashore alright, put the ammunition away on the beach, and then joined 

in the charge. Talk about go! We did go.  

 We could only just see the enemy, as it was only break of day. You ought to have heard the cheer 

when they gave us the word to charge. You could have heard it miles if you could have stopped to listen. 

Some were saying (or roaring), óCome on, Australia!ô and others óAustralia forever!ô and some óCome on, 

boys!ô and óGive it to ôem, boys!ô but the funniest part of it was hearing chaps talking to themselves, or at 

least at the Turks, and calling them all the Saturday night bar fight words ever heard.  

 It was good game, running along and shooting as fast as ever you could go, but I nearly lost my 

rifle the first shot. I forgot to put it close to my shoulder, and it kicked nearly out of my hands. I got rather a 

late start when they began to entrench, as I stayed behind to help another chap to give a lift to a wounded 

man out of the range of the lead pills.  

 I hadnôt got a hole big enough to hide a bottle of West End when they counter-attacked us, but I kept 

pegging away with my old entrenching tool every chance I got, and I finished up by getting a fairly snug 

place, though I used to get stiff as a board lying in the one position. I made it large enough to kneel up and 

fire at last. Then, when we did get a spell (which was five minutes at the most) I would have a lie down and 

next time I would sit down, and the next time I would kneel up, so my positions were varied.  

 Anyhow, our trenches are all right now, as we got the shovels to work. We are all happy as Larry, as 

we are doing so well. There were some most awfully sad sights the first week, but it may never be so bad 

again. 

Author: Gunner 4263 Frederick Herbert Richardson, 10
th
 Bn/24

th
 Bn/5

th
 DAC. Enl. 26/8/14, RTA 

21/6/19. Bullet wound to the thigh, 5/5/15. Returned to Australia, venereal, in 1915. Re-embarked as 10
th
 

Rft/24
th
 Bn. Transferred to 5

th
 DAC at Tel-el-Kebir. Married in UK.  

Source: óThe Advertiserô (Adelaide, SA), 7 July, 1915. Found on Trove. 
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Brothers in the 2nd Battalion: Ptes 357 Harry and 358 Les Wharton 
Judy Grieve, Glen Innes. 

 

rothers Harry Hopetoun (óHopeô) Wharton  (b1889) and Leslie (óLesô) Wharton (b1891) were 

born eighteen months apart at Rocky Ponds near Parkes, NSW, where their Lancashire-born father, 

John Henry Wharton, taught at the local school. They received their schooling in various country 

locations to which their father was transferred, living in school residences, while their mother Sarah (nee 

Cotton) taught sewing and brought up the children. By the time they moved to Black Mountain School in 

1902 and then Ben Venue School in Armidale in 1908, the family had grown to four sons and three 

daughters. 

 On leaving school both Harry (usually known as óHopeô) and Les trained as teachers, and at the 

outbreak of war in 1914 Hope was teaching at Groses Creek, southeast of Armidale, and Les was completing 

his training at Hereford House in Sydney.  

 Both boys had completed the compulsory military training which had been initiated for 18-24year 

olds in January 1911 and was equivalent to 16 days per year. By this means, at the outbreak of war when 

Prime Minister Joseph Cook was able to offer the British Government the services of the Navy and 20 000 

troops, Australia had a partly trained force of 59 000 men, which included the first graduates from Duntroon 

Military College. 

 The Governmentôs call to arms which was accepted by the British on 6 August, 1914, resulted in the 

formation of four NSW battalions within a fortnight [the 1
st
 Brigade]. These were under Major General 

Bridges KCB as Commander of the 1
st
 Division, with Lieutenant Colonel George Braund, the sitting 

Liberal Member of Parliament for Armidale, the commanding officer of the 2
nd

 Battalion within that 

division.  

 Amongst the first rush of volunteers were Hope and Les, arriving at Victoria Barracks on 14 August 

to be sorted alphabetically into a long line. From the line, groups of 20 men presented themselves at tables 

where a doctor was able to give them a preliminary medical clearance, and a clerk allotted Hope and Les 

numbers 357 and 358 respectively, as privates in 2
nd 
Battalion, óCô Company.  

 

Above: óCô Company, 2
nd

 Battalion, Kensington, 11 October, 1916. Les is believed to be seventh from left in the 

middle row, and Hope is possibly second from the left, middle row. The long building in the left background is the 

horse stables. AWM P00056.001. 

B 
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 The brothers proceeded to Randwick Racecourse where they were issued with two brown blankets 

which helped to soften the concrete floor of the Ledger Stand where they were to sleep. Transfer to the 

Kensington Racecourse provided orderly rows of bell tents, each accommodating eight men, and a 

programme of intensive training. A private received five shillings per day with one shilling per day deferred, 

and had the Wharton boys been married, two fifths of their pay would have been allotted to their family, 

supplemented by a Separation Allowance.   

 In early October the four uniformed battalions marched through the streets of Sydney in a 

spectacular pageant prior to embarkation on 18 October. At 8 am the 2
nd

 Battalion of around 1 000 men 

boarded the troopship A23 Suffolk. Boarding took 25 minutes and the ship, which was to be their home for 

the next seven weeks, sailed for Albany at 4.30 pm. 

 Orders on board included hair to be shaved to one-eighth of an inch and men to shave daily, but to 

grow moustaches. From Albany a convoy of 36 ships sailed from King Georges Sound on 1 November ï for 

many this would be the last sight of their homeland.    

 The men received a ration of one pint of beer per night for threepence and were overjoyed when 

their commanding officer offered ñfree drinks for allò to celebrate the sinking of the German raider Emden 

by HMAS Sydney on 9 November. Elation turned to disappointment, when the drinks turned out to be extra 

lime juice ï Colonel Braund was a teetotaller!   

 During the voyage, the death of Private Law [believed to be Pte 295 John Selby Lowe, 3
rd
 Bn, died 

of pneumonia aboard the Euripides, 9/11/14] and his burial at sea was followed by auction of his belongings, 

with 25 pounds being raised for his family. After sailing up the Suez Canal to Alexandria, on 8 December the 

men were issued with a 24 hour ration of one tin of bully beef and six army biscuits to serve them for the 

train trip from Alexandria to Cairo. 

 The intense and interminable training under desert conditions for almost four months was a period of 

severe frustration for these men, fired up to actively fight for óKing and Countryô. But it came to an end on 1 

April
 
when Hope and Les sailed with the 2

nd
 Battalion from Alexandria on the captured German ship the 

Derfflinger, bound for Mudros Harbour on the island of Lemnos. Here they practised silent disembarkation 

with full packs, and it was at this time that General Birdwood, British Commander of the Australian and 

New Zealand troops, adopted the acronym óANZACô.  

 The órealô disembarkation, commencing before dawn on 25 April was with full 70 lb (32 kg) packs 

and a bundle of sticks or boards for firewood, was carried out in total silence. Boats of 40 men were towed in 

lines of four to 500 yards from shore, where the tow lines were released and the men lowered their upright 

oars and rowed. A whispered question, ñWhen will you be coming back to pick us up?ò was answered with, 

ñThere is no coming backò.   

 Hope and Les (who landed later in the day) survived the frantic scramble up the steep and rugged 

cliffs under fire to assemble in some form of order despite loss of men and officers. In Lesô words:  

Hope and I were in the same trench for a while. All our battalion was mixed up, NZ men and men of all 

brigades together. Colonel Braund was in charge of our men. He captured a position and held it against 

awful odds. Our Major and the majority of our officers were shot, some think by men who joined as spies 

and other officers were shot by Turkish snipers. Hope and I got separated. I was sniping off the Turkish 

snipers and as soon as we had got them, Joe Western and I rushed out to get the wounded men, who could 

not be attended to owing to the scarcity of AMC men. We rescued three or four each and the last we came to 

was Hope. He was lying in a safe position, to which he had been carried by the AMC men. He was bandaged 

up and very glad to see us. We had great difficulty in getting a stretcher, but we managed it and carried him 

all the way down a spur, past the various AMC dugouts to headquarters. As we passed the dugouts, he was 

inspected and given a little beef tea. Hope had been in pain at first but the doctor gave him a light dose of 

morphia. We cheered him up and got him to where the boats were coming in to take the wounded to hospital 

é I bade him farewell on the beach, hoping to hear of his recovery. 

 

I have since heard that he had been fighting in the firing line and when ammunition ran out, he commenced 

rescue work. We were fighting on the extreme left under Colonel Braund. The position was vital. We fought 

our way up a steep spur. False orders were being passed by spies along our lines. If we lost our position the 

whole division would have been wiped out. After fighting from 7.30 am to 5.30 pm reinforcements arrived 

but were sent back by false orders from a spy. He was one who came out with us and was second to me in a 

trench. A mate of mine caught him and shot him. At dusk we gained the top of the spur. Food and water came 

up. We were refreshed but must go on and gain another trench. The order was given to charge with 

bayonets. We won against awful odds, routed the Turks; but Hope and four others who were up first were 

seriously wounded or killed.   
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On 29 April, Hope Wharton died on board the Derfflinger en route to 

Alexandria, and was buried at sea the following day. Right: Hope 

Wharton. Photo courtesy Kim Phillips. Source: óDaily Telegraphô, 25/5/15. 

  

Each soldier was responsible for his own dug out ï a hole dug in the side 

of a trench to accommodate one man in a cramped position. No clothing 

was to be removed and this included boots. From his dugout by the beach 

in óShrapnel Retreatô on 29 April, Les wrote:  

God has been very good to me and I feel very unworthy of it. I have been 

literally surrounded by shrapnel and flying bullets. I can hear the booming 

of naval guns, the cracking of rifles and the whistling of bullets. Hoping 

that God will preserve dear Hope and myself é 

 

In mid May, Les told his father:  

We are still here in the trenches living like 20
th
 century cave dwellers. So 

far I have escaped. Times have been very arduous. The little sleep we get is 

very broken ï have gone four or five days without any. Sentry work at 

night, fatigue work, digging and carrying provisions during the day. We 

are fairly established and all along have had plenty to eat and drink. Talk 

about hair-breadth escapes! Providential escapes they must be. We seem to 

be endowed with superhuman strength and endurance. 

 

Lance Corporal Beechôs [William Beech, 2
nd

 Bn] periscope rifle had been adopted and demonstrations 

were introduced to induce the Turks to waste ammunition. By mid May one million rounds had been fired at 

the Turks and thousands of bodies lay between the two trench lines, with an unbearable stench and millions 

of blowflies. Les wrote on 21 May, soon after the Turkish charge of 19 May:  

For nearly four weeks rifles cracked, bombs burst, and shells hailed shrapnel. Bullets have whistled 

past in various pitched keys. I seem to have led a charmed life. I havenôt had a wash or shave for 

three weeks. The Turks advanced in mass formation on our post last night and this morning the 

valley is filled with dead.  

 Les told his sister, Marie Hutton, of the armistice to bury the dead when for half an hour from the 

earth thousands of heads peeped up and soldiers stood up gazing at their enemies. The moment the flag was 

down out blazed the rifles again. The cease fire lasted from 7.30 am until 4 pm, and during this time of 

undertaking the horrendous task of burying their dead, soldiers exchanged cigarettes. 

 The fearless Colonel Braund had been tragically killed by a sentry on the night of 3 May and by 11 

May the 2
nd

 Battalion was reduced to 21 officers and 565 other ranks, while on 15 May, divisional 

commander General Bridges was mortally wounded by a sniper. A fortnight later the battalion count was 22 

officers and 510 other ranks, until 1 121 reinforcements arrived on May 26.  

 In the firing line in the deep narrow trenches, firing posts were at 8-10 yard intervals with a firestep 

to see over the parapet. At each post were six men and one NCO on two-man, two-hour shifts, while four 

slept, each in a dugout. Rations were bully beef, cheese, bacon, jam, tea, sugar, salt, mustard, pepper and one 

quart (1.2 litres) of water per day, which was for drinking, cooking and washing. Water was towed in by 

barges from Malta and Alexandria and stored in tanks on the beach. In order to provide each man with 2 oz 

(44 gm) of any commodity, one and one quarter tons of that commodity had to be brought ashore. The men 

dug up roots for fuel, and to conserve matches they were split in two. Fleas and lice were rampant.  

 There was a severe lack of mortars and howitzers, and the Turkish cricket ball and pudding bombs 

which were lobbed into the trenches were countered by jam-tin bombs from the Anzacs. The menôs teeth 

were deteriorating from the incredibly hard army biscuits and some had improvised home-made graters to 

overcome this. In early June the bakery was transferred from Mudros to Imbros Island to enable provision of 

a bread issue for each man on alternate days.  

 A light horse reinforcement arriving in mid June described the Anzacs as wild, unkempt, unshaved, 

unwashed, clad in shirts, knickers and boots with decrepit service caps with a piece of cloth sewn at the back 

as a sunshade. His clean rifle was his best friend. 

 Before the well-documented Battle of Lone Pine (or Sari Bair) on 6 August, the men were issued 

boiled rice and rum-flavoured tea. By midday the following day, eight officers and 160 men had been killed 

from the 2
nd

 Battalion. They had run out of ammunition and the battle was a frightful hand-to-hand struggle 

likened to that of savage beasts at the bottom of a pit.  
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 Les received a bullet wound in his arm and was evacuated to Alexandria and hospitalised in Cairo. 

He was declared fit for active service again on 19 August. On 5 September he was admitted to hospital with 

gastritis and did not rejoin his unit until the end of October. Intestinal diseases were rife on Gallipoli and this 

period for Les indicated the heavy toll disease took on the already debilitated men. Orders were óno 

evacuations unless totally debilitatedô. However, it became necessary to give the men of the 2
nd

 a break, with 

nourishing food (and limited beer) on Lemnos at the end of October.   

 On their return the weather was cooler and the men started making their shelters ready for winter. 

Extra blankets were issued and long boots provided for the sentries. The flies were fewer and dysentery had 

been replaced by paratyphoid jaundice. By 8 December, when their position was deemed untenable, Colonel 

CBB White commenced plans for the evacuation. On Boxing Day, 1915, the 2
nd

 Battalion of 25 officers and 

544 other ranks (which included Les Wharton), sailed to Alexandria on the Derfflinger, now renamed 

Huntsgreen, and their Gallipoli campaign was over. 

 At Tel-el-Kebir the battalion, now in new vermin-free uniforms, enjoyed a short break before 11 

February, when the ranks of the 2
nd

 Battalion were split, with half the men transferred to the new 54
th
 

Battalion of the 5
th
 Division. In the ónewô 2

nd
 Battalion of 20 officers and 1 020 other ranks, some men were 

sent to schools of instruction for specialised training (such as machine guns), while the bulk of the battalion 

was sent to guard the Suez Canal.  

 Les, now a corporal in the 2
nd

 Battalion, sailed for Marseilles. Then it was to Belgian Flanders, 

where the troops were introduced to trench warfare, Western Front style. Les wrote: we are tourists in 

reality, but it entails heavy marches which keep us fit.     

 Before Pozieres in July, 1916, he wrote: The worldôs battle is roaring and raging as I write. We may 

rush into action at any moment now, ready to chase the Germans once they are hunted out. In July, Les 

described how he was christened óKing of No-manôs landô for his rather delicate patrol work when, in his 

words, in charge of the parties each night he crept stealthily forth, blackened all over, bombs projecting from 

pockets, a huge automatic revolver in one hand and a shillelagh in the other. One night when eight fellows 

were wildly throwing bombs at them, he replied with fire but his party managed to dive into some friendly 

shell holes when machine-gun firing commenced.   

 On 13 October, Les received orders to attend the Cadet College at Gailes in Ayreshire, Scotland. 

Here he qualified for his commission and was appointed a 2
nd

 lieutenant before returning to France to rejoin 

his unit on 17 December, then in the mud, rain and freezing conditions of the Somme.  

 During his absence the men who had returned from Gallipoli had each received a brass óAô badge, to 

be worn on their shoulder patch, for their service as Anzacs. Christmas was celebrated with loaves of bread, 

each to be shared by five men.  

 On 29 January, 1917, the march through snow to Albert after two weeks drill at ómelancholyô 

Contay was described thus: Our footsteps, falling noiselessly in the snow struck one as a ghostly army 

marching through a ghostly city and being received by an unseen host ï the souls of the great army that 

rested forever on the Somme battlefield. It was incredibly cold and the men could only proceed to the front 

line under cover of darkness in the devastated, snow-covered terrain. Blankets were used for improvised 

stretchers and rats were constant companions.  

 On 27 February they marched in the dark to Flers ï or what was left of it ï with shell holes full of 

water with mud to the knees and it was written: No pen could describe the scene in the murky morning light 

ï quagmire strewn with the refuse of war in which dead men lay é   

 Les was recalled to the Intelligence School for a week in March and again in April for a fortnight to 

a sniping school.  

 In mid July, for his leadership at Second Bullecourt on 4 May, Les was awarded the Military Cross 

by King George V in the field, the citation reading: For conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty: He led 

his platoon with great initiative and dash. He overcame severe opposition for 500 yards along the enemyôs 

trench. Throughout he set a splendid example which was of greatest value to his men.  

 Les had a week in hospital with a sprained ankle before spending the first week of September on 

leave in Paris, then a week in a reinforcement camp and three weeks back in hospital in London with an 

undiagnosed illness. However, on leaving hospital he was seconded for training with the AFC and his service 

in the 2
nd

 Battalion AIF ended on 11 December. Les joined the School of Military Aeronautics at Reading in 

the UK, training as a flying officer in Reading and Minchinhampton.  

 After two more short spells in hospital, Les graduated as a flying officer-pilot on 25 May, 1918. He 

joined No. 4 Squadron AFC, flying the newly developed single-seater biplane, the Sopwith Camel. It had 

two synchronised Vickers machine guns mounted in front of the cockpit to fire through the propellers. 
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Difficult to handle, but in the hands of an experienced pilot the Sopwith Camel was said to provide 

unmatched manoeuvrability. 

 On 11 August, in action over Armentieres, Les was separated from his companions but took on two 

German aircraft, one of which he brought down. It was said he then must have thought that the whole 

German Army Air Service was at his heels when six fighters shrieked down on him. With his plane badly 

damaged and with petrol pouring from holes in the tank behind his seat, he sought safety in the clouds below, 

but, wounded by anti-aircraft fire, he emerged and crashed on the British side of the lines.  

 With gunshot wounds to his head and concussion, Les was transported to hospital but insisted on 

reporting to his squadron commander en route. He was later transferred to hospital in England and was 

discharged on 11 October. From there on he was taken on strength of the 5th Training Squadron at 

Minchinhampton, until returning to Australia on the Kaiser I Hind and his discharge from the AIF on 3 July, 

1919. 

 In civilian life Les returned to his teaching career. He married Ivy Forbes Shirden in 1921 and 

cared for his two sons following their motherôs untimely death from tuberculosis. There were three further 

children from his second marriage (in 1941) and he retired in the late 1950s as principal of Balgowlah 

Primary School. Les died in October 1965. 

 

Endnote: Thanks to Kim Phillips for solving the mystery of 

óPrivate Lawô. Kim found the article [extract, left] on deaths at sea 

in the First Contingent, written by Chaplain Green [profiled in 

DIGGER 52]. Source: óThe Methodistô, Sydney, 19/12/14.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

hilst nosing about for food in a smashed village from which the inhabitants had hurriedly 

óimshiedô during the Hun advance, my cobber and I spotted two Tommies busily engaged 

plucking two fowls in the yard of a battered house. About ten minutes later, just as they had 

finished plucking the fowls, two angry gesticulating French civilians came out of the house and made 

towards the Tommies, shouting: ñPorquois? Pourquois? Allez! Allez!ò The Tommies dropped the fowls and 

óalleyedô into the distance at the double. Then we picked up the dressed poultry, returned to the house, and 

changed back into our uniforms. ï ñMULGA MICK.ò 
 

Source: óAussieô, No. 6, August 1918. 

W 

DIGGER Quiz No. 54: óCampbellôs challengeô: 
Fromelles, 1916 
1. The Battle of Fromelles, 19/20 July, 1916, took place on the 

Western Front near Armentieres. What was the nickname given 

to this sector by the British forces? 

2. Who was the commander of the 5
th
 Division AIF at 

Fromelles? 

3. Who was the overall commander of the British and 

Australian divisions at the Battle of Fromelles and the staff 

officer responsible for the plan to attack the Aubers Ridge? 

4. What German strongpoint marked the boundary between the 

AIFôs 15
th
 Brigade and the British 61

st
 Division? 

5. Who was the CO of the 54
th
 Battalion AIF at Fromelles?  

6. What was the number of Australian casualties in the Battle 

of Fromelles? 

7. Who were the three Australians involved in organising an 

informal ceasefire after the battle to collect wounded? 

8. The óCobbers Statueô shows a sergeant of the 57
th
 Battalion 

carrying in a wounded soldier on his back. Who was this 

sergeant, who went repeatedly into No-manôs land to search for 

and bring back wounded men? 

9. Who was the popular and respected chaplain of the 54
th
 

Battalion who was killed at Fromelles? 
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Memoirs of Private 4393 Alexander Wallace, 29th Battalion (Part 2) 
Contributed by Stephanie Smyth, Adelong. Edited by Graeme Hosken, Dubbo. 

Alex Wallace [below right] has completed his training in the UK and departs for France and his unit. 

 

To France 
At last we were placed on a draft for France. We were all medically examined 

and warned not to leave the camp. We had everything ready to move, so on 14 

March, 1917, we marched out of Hurdcott after dark, and headed by the band 

playing óAustralia will be thereô we marched to Wilton. We arrived at 

Folkestone at daylight the following morning and were marched to near the 

quay and placed in a big barracks and ordered not to leave. They gave us dinner 

and then marched us down and we embarked and were soon underway across 

the Channel, followed by destroyers and sub-chasers. 

 The destroyers travelled through the water at top speed; the spray used 

to go right over them. They were like a hen watching chickens. We all had life 

belts in case of accidents. At last we reached Boulogne, France. We 

disembarked, lined up and marched en route through the town and up on top of 

a hill (called óOne Blanket Hillô). Here we were given a blanket and put into 

tents for the night, with orders no man was to leave. But we were not long there 

when we all walked down to the town. There were some thousands of troops in 

the camp ï Aussies, Scotties and Tommies. The Aussies took the lead and in 

half an hour there was no-one in camp.  

 We had a good look through the town. It seemed very strange, not 

being able to speak French, but we managed to make signs and get what we 

wanted. When we tired of roaming about we made for the camp and got lost, and never got home till late in 

the morning.  

 We had a breakfast of bully beef and biscuits and fell in and marched off through the town to the 

railway station. We were put on a train and journeyed to Etaples, where there was a big camp [16 March]. 

They fell us in at the station and marched us to camp through a hut, and as we passed through we were 

introduced to a rifle and bayonet, gas respirator and 120 rounds of ammunition. So things were looking 

serious, as we thought. We stayed there three days and left by train on 19 March, 1917, and reached Albert 

the same day. 

 Albert had been knocked about by shell fire earlier in the war. The cathedral was blown down, but 

the steeple still stood and on top of the steeple was a figure of the Virgin and Child. It was hanging over and 

looked like it was handing the Child to someone on the roadway. In case it should fall, we camped in some 

tents on the fringe of the town for the night and had bully and biscuits issued. We were put through gas to try 

our [gas] helmets, and then we started to march to join up with our battalion. 

 

Taken on strength 
We started with full marching order, headed by a big lanky officer called Harrison [2

nd
 Lieutenant Henry 

Alfred Harrison ]. We reached a place called Montauban and left our packs there, to our great relief, and 

started on again in fighting order. The roads were ankle deep in slush and the big officer kept on going and 

we used to sing out to him, What about a spell? but he took no notice. We marched all day. We were mud to 

the knees. At last we reached a camp called óBendigoô. We were dog tired and had had very little to eat all 

day; a little bully and biscuit. But we were lucky here as they gave us each a Christmas parcel with cake and 

cigarettes in them and they were a Godsend. 

 In the morning, after an issue of bully and biscuit, we started our weary march again through the 

slush. We struck a duckboard track and followed it a long way [until] it ran out and then we had the mud. 

The ground here was literally churned up with shells, as the Hun had just been blown out of it. We had 

dinner of bully and biscuits, some had none, and the officer told us we would catch the battalion that night, 

about dark, but when we got there they were gone. 

 Some of the boys were knocked up. The officer seemed fresh, as he only carried a walking stick and 

revolver. The boys said, What about a spell? He said, No time to spell. We have to get to the battalion 

tonight, and we will get there if we have to follow them all night. And he said, Cheer up, boys, we will get a 

hot supper at the next village. We plugged along and started to straggle. He came back and roared a treat. 

 At last we reached the village and the promised supper. It was now dark. He told us to get our dixies 

for tea and we were glad. They gave us a pannikin of tea per man and he said, I am sorry, boys, the battalion 
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is in the line. There is nothing to eat here bar a bag of onions and he gave us one each. So we had tea and 

onion for tea and then he said, Fall in. We were that tired we could scarcely keep from falling asleep, but we 

got up and followed. He kept on going. Our shoulders seemed to be down about our hips with the weight of 

120 rounds of ammunition.  

 At last we reached our guns and they were firing away, and about 12 oôclock we reached a place 

called Delsaux Farm [22 March]. A few men of the battalion were camped here. The rest were in the line 

and the officer said there was no place to camp. He said if we were not satisfied to stop there, we could join 

the men in the firing line. 

 It had started to snow, and we went to an old building. The roof was hanging off and the sides blown 

in, so we spread our sheets down and rolled in. We were not in bed long when the roof, with the weight of 

the snow, slipped a bit further. We wondered what happened. We just grabbed our things and got out and lay 

in the open.  

 Then we were disturbed later by the sergeant major roaring on a man who brought a German 

prisoner from the line. The Hun was wounded. The sergeant major said, Do you call yourself a soldier? 

Youôre not a soldierôs bootlace! What do you want to bother with him, dragging him down here. Damn you, 

man, wasnôt you issued with a bayonet? 

 When it was daylight the snow had covered the men over and all that could be seen were little heaps 

and every heap was a man. We crawled out of our cold nests and had breakfast. A poor one, as it was hard to 

get rations here. 

 We kept down through the day and were told to make shelter for that night. So we dug holes in the 

side of an old German trench and covered it over. A couple of men to each hole and we thought we would 

have a very good sleep. But towards dark we got the order to be ready to go up the line as soon as it got dark. 

 The colonel spoke a few words and told us it was nice and quiet and we would get used to the shell 

fire. So we started off, loaded with rations. It was pitch dark and we had to go about three miles. By the time 

we reached the line we were very tired, as we had very little rest since leaving Etaples. 

 

Into action 
It was a bitter cold, clear night. We handed over the rations. They then took us and put us on outpost duty 

and the ones we relieved went on patrol. We could hardly realise we were so close to the enemy. 

 We put in a terribly cold night, standing there looking out for óBochesô. Our feet were frozen and 

some of the men went to sleep standing up. A man on the post with me was sitting down snoring. I woke him 

and said, Donôt go to sleep here. He opened his eyes and looked around and said, Look, look, there is the 

Hun! I said, Donôt get excited, that black object was the first thing I noticed when I came here.  

 It was a very quiet night and on towards morning the patrols came back and took over our posts and 

said the Hun was very quiet; they heard them talking. The corporal fell us in and marched us off back to the 

farm for breakfast. We were just gone seven minutes when the whole Front woke up with machine-gun and 

rifle fire and we could hear bombs bursting. 

 The corporal said, They are having a little fun, as usual. He walked along as if there were no Huns in 

the world. The bullets now were going over our heads with a ópop, popô and they were cutting sparks out of 

the ground near us. We reached a sunken road and the corporal said, Keep close to the bank. We stayed there 

about a minute, while the bullets splattered about the sunken road. At last we got out of the road of the 

bullets and we met an officer. It was now fairly light. 

 The officer stopped us and asked us where we were going. We told him and he said, Hold fast here, I 

may want you men. Fritzy has come over! We saw a young soldier coming down the road as hard as he 

could. He said, I am wounded, [the Hun] came along in ones and twos. The officer said, About turn! and 

took us back to the road, told us to line the bank and then someone saw the Huns and he gave us the order to 

fire. We fired about ten rounds at the Hun and he told us to cease fire. [The action described here was a 

German counter-attack at Beaumetz on 23 March, 1917, designed to slow the pursuit by the 

Australians as the Germans withdrew to the Hindenburg Line.] 

 I remember a young fellow [Rex, unidentified], who was near me. He was shivering with fright and 

I said to him, Let them have it! and he said, I canôt load my rifle. I said, Itôs as well to fire as lie there. He 

was absolutely useless; I donôt think he fired a shot. I found out afterwards he was on a strongpost with some 

others, Fritz got right on top of them before they saw them and killed three or four. He saw how things were 

going and he lay down under a sheet of iron. A German officer jumped into the post, flashing a revolver, and 

he stepped on the sheet of iron. He never saw Rex. Then the officer thought it was clear and left. Then Rex 

availed himself of an opportunity and slipped away. Hence all the shivering. 
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 The Germans came right onto the strong posts en masse. Our line was only held by a handful of men, 

but they fought gamely. Although they were driven back a little way, they fought for every yard. Some men 

were seen to stand up and fire into the Huns, and as they came nearer, retreated a little further and turned and 

fired for all they were worth. The Huns squealed like a stuck pig. On our right there was a lot of shelling. 

The Huns came over in a drove and were literally mowed down.  

 The lanky officer who led us on the march from Etaples charged about a hundred of the Hun with 

seventeen men. When the Huns saw the flash of steel they turned and fled. The officer was recommended 

and got a medal and later on he was badly wounded. 

[2
nd

 Lieutenant Henry Alfred Harrison was awarded the Military Cross. His recommendation reads: 

At Beaumetz on 23
rd
 March 1917, 2

nd
 Lieutenant Harrison, 29

th
 Battalion, displayed conspicuous bravery. 

The company to which he belonged was holding that portion of the outpost line which was in front of 

Beaumetz, and 2
nd

 Lieutenant Harrison, who had just returned from hospital, joined his company in the line 

on the night 22
nd

/23
rd

 March. Early the following morning the enemy counter-attacked in force, and as [a]  

result one of our platoons to the right and a post on the left of Beaumetz were forced to retire. The enemy 

gained a footing in the village at these two places, as well as on the right of the company to which 2
nd

 Lieut 

Harrison belonged. Placing himself at the head of 14 [sic] men, this officer commenced the work of clearing 

the village of the enemy. Gallantly leading his small party he unhesitatingly attacked every party of the 

enemy he met, driving them from street to street and out of the village and inflicting casualties on them. After 

driving out all the enemy he could see in the village he led his party around the SE of Beaumetz and, seeing a 

party of about 100 Germans, at once charged them. After a sharp hand to hand fight he drove the whole 

party towards Bapaume Road, and continued in pursuit of them until checked by an enemy machine gun. He 

proved himself to be a fearless and capable leader. Although wounded he remained at duty, and continued to 

assist company commander. When about to lead a further charge, he was again badly wounded by an enemy 

shell.  

Alex Wallace certainly had a swift and exciting initiation to fighting on the Western Front ï Ed.]  

  

I saw one man who got in close quarters with a Hun. The Hun rushed the post and pointed his rifle in the 

trench and was about to pull the trigger, which he did, but the man pushed the bayonet off with one hand and 

bayoneted him in the throat with the other, with the result that his hand was blackened with the discharge of 

the Hunôs rifle. 

 Things quietened down after a while, so our officer took us back to the old German gun pit and told 

us to stay there. Then some rations arrived and we had breakfast, but were told to be ready to move out at a 

minuteôs notice. A lot of men had now come up from support, so we were ready for him if he felt inclined to 

come again. 

 We lay down in some trees that the Hun had felled and waited for orders. We could not sleep as we 

had been too excited, and towards dawn we were lined up again and the officer said, Sergeant, pick me a 

good mob of bombers. So the sergeant came round and handed different men a couple of bombs and told us 

we were to attack Fritzy a little later on in the night ï bomb him out of a mine crater. But as luck had it, 

another battalion came and relieved us. They attacked the crater and Fritzy had retired as soon as it got dark. 

  

Out of the line 
After we got relieved we had a long and tiresome march. We arrived at Till Trench, not far from Bapaume, 

and there was no shelter, so we slept in the frost. It was terrible ï hungry and tired, some of the men dropped 

out of the march and slept by the roadside and completed the journey the next day. We camped in an old 

trench anywhere we could get; some in the open on frozen ground.  

 In the daytime we were engaged in cleaning up the streets of Bapaume, which was almost levelled to 

the ground, except for the [Town] Hall. One night it blew up and in the morning it was a heap of debris. A 

number of soldiers were killed in the place ï mostly light horse.  

[On 16 April, 1917, Alex reported sick with a sprained ankle and was admitted to the 56
th
 CCS. An 

inquiry determined that his injury occurred on the line of march and that Alex was not to blame. He 

rejoined his unit on 30 April.] 

 After a few days here we got orders to be ready to move and we moved off one cold evening. We 

went all through Bapaume and round to the outskirts of the town and camped in an old mill, where we were 

told to make ourselves cosy, and we did. Just as we were snug and it was dark and miserable, we got the 

order to pack up and be ready to move. We moved back from whence we came, Till Trench! The men were 

in a great rage, but what was the use? In a day or two we marched to Bendigo Camp [at Bazentin-Le-

Grand] and arrived there on 23 April, 1917. 
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 All around this camp was the scene of a great fight not long before. The Hun had not long been 

driven out. The dead still lay unburied, in hundreds. We stayed there for a few [weeks] drilling, and then had 

a terrible hard march to Vaulx [via Longueval, Flers, Factory Corner, Beaulencourt, Bapaume and 

Fremicourt ].  We were terrible tired when we got there. The roads were torn up by shell fire and heavy with 

slush, and our feet were blistered.  

 We stayed there [three] days, under the mouths of our own guns, which were barking away the 

whole time, night and day. There was heavy fighting going on at Bullecourt at the time and every evening we 

would see a great display of fireworks. God help the poor wretches who faced that certain death. 

 We [had] arrived at Vaulx, 9 May, 1917, and we left and went into the line on the 12
th
 of May 

[Lagnicourt sector]. Our guide lost us going in. He brought us in a circle to where we came from. It was 

another hard march over shell torn ground, but we arrived near morning. We relieved a Tommy regiment 

[2/9
th
 London Regiment]; they were eager to be off and as soon as we arrived, they left. We were all placed 

in our positions in the trench and a number used to go on patrol and fetch some rations. One long, continued 

rumble. 

  

The wiring party 
It was very quiet where we were, except for the odd shelling; we had a very good time. We used to go on a 

barbed wiring [fatigue] at night. I used to hate that ï putting wire up in the dark, out in the front. One night, 

three of us and a sergeant were out. The sergeant was a very game man; I was always a windy fellow. Well, 

we were busy, engaged at our job. I had an old Boer War soldier with me, when all of a sudden the bullets 

from a machine gun were turned on us and the sparks started to fly out of the wire. We dropped flat and they 

whistled all around. Then they stopped and the sergeant and his mate got up and started work, and the Boer 

War soldier said to me, Come on there, up. I said, Thatôs no good. He said, Come on. I said, Youôre an old 

soldier; now donôt be in a hurry. Donôt you know itôs better for two to go than four? If Fritzy lines them up, 

heôs bound to let fly and if we are up we will get it too. He said, By God, I never thought of that! So after a 

while and when all seemed quiet, we resumed operations and completed our contract. 

 

Some close shaves 
It was summer time and Fritzy used to shell us most of the day, and he went very close at times. One day he 

was shelling and one of the chaps, óBillô we called him, was lying in his possie and he felt uneasy and went 

around the trench to his mate, when up goes his possie. They went around and had a look and the shell had 

pierced his home and the pack he had had his head on was blown to pieces. The boys said Bill always drew 

shells and once Fritzy started they were off and left Bill to it (we will see how he got on later). 

 I had a good possie, cooped up under the trench, and when he started to fire, the chaps used to come 

there. One day the windiest man I ever saw came there. He said, I am sick of this rotten war, I would like to 

get wounded, and he sat with his feet out. I said, You will get hit in the legs if you donôt pull them in, and he 

said, Thatôs where I want it. But he never got it. I think he went through to the end.  

 It was on this sector I had what I think was the narrowest escape of the whole war.  

 A party of us were detailed to go on patrol out near the Fritzyôs line. There were about six of us; I 

felt very windy. The officer was a game man ï to recklessness ï and he walked out quite unconcerned. He 

walked right up to Fritzyôs barb and felt it. He said, We will go back now, and it was time, as it would be 

daylight in a few minutes. He walked along talking, when all of a sudden, we were under fire ï machine 

guns. We threw ourselves flat on the ground and they were hissing all around us and they started to creep 

through the grass near us. That done me! I rolled over into a deep shell hole and as I did a stream of bullets 

poured into the bank of the hole. Of course, they could not hurt me there. 

 They sent up a flare and it nearly dropped in the shell hole where I was and then it broke day. We 

were all prisoners in No-manôs land for the rest of the day. It was a cloudy day. I knew my mates were near 

at hand but it wasnôt safe to look out, so I kept down, as I was right on a ridge. There was very heavy 

shelling on both sides as I lay down and thought I would have some sleep. I knew I was fairly safe from 

shells but I had nothing to eat. Some shells came whistling over and I sat up to see if I could see where they 

were falling.  

 A whizz bang whipped over and I ducked my head. I could have sworn it nearly hit me in the ear 

(and now I still think so). I consoled myself with the thought it was not close and lay down again, with my 

head on my respirator. I heard something blow on the ground and heard something crack like a cap. I felt 

something warm on the back of my neck. I was wondering what it was when I saw where a whizz bang had 

landed ï just on the brink of the hole. It ran right down under the loose dirt and stopped in the ground under 
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my neck! So the mystery was solved. If it had burst it would have blown me to pieces. When I saw what 

might have been, my hair stood on end and I broke into a cold sweat. 

 However, I managed to have a little sleep and enjoyed a chase and killed about 200 chats on my 

flannel and smoked about three boxes of cigarettes. I knew the night would find me back in our own lines, or 

a prisoner of war, or perhaps knocked out of action. I had 120 rounds of ammunition and two Mills [bombs] 

so the ones that took me, I was determined to make them pay dearly.  

 During the day I took a peep over the shell hole, with the aid of some green grass around my hat. I 

lifted my head very slowly and I got a fair idea where I was to go at night. It did not get dark until about 10 

oôclock and I crept out and glanced around and the Huns were about 50 yards away working on their barbed 

wire. They could not have seen me as I got up and walked straight towards our line, stopping now and then 

to see if I was all clear. I caught sight of about six men who seemed to be going towards our line. I pushed on 

and kept to the left; they saw me and made towards me. I thought they meant to have a go at me, so I slipped 

into a shell hole, brought my rifle to the ready and drew my bombs off, and challenged [them]. They were in 

a heap talking. I said, Who are you? One seemed to mumble something. My finger was on the trigger. I said, 

Who are you? and I gave the password of the night before. They turned and walked the other way, so I let 

them go. I donôt know now who they were ï friend or foe. I then made off again, as I could see the bank of 

the trench and made for it. 

 I crossed through the barb, walked right to the parapet and said, Anyone home? With that there was a 

flash of steel and a clicking of locks. I had landed in the Tommy lines, who were just on our right. They 

directed me to our own lines and I was OK. The boys were glad to see me back and the sergeant gave me a 

half dixie lid of cold tea he had saved. I think it had a little ópetrolô in it too. It was the first tea I had had for 

three days, and I had had nothing to eat since the night before, so I enjoyed a slight feed. All the others were 

back except for one, and he went into Germany ï prisoner of war. 

 

Out for a rest 
We were in the line at a place called Queant, facing the famous Hindenburg Line. We had a good look at it 

through glasses when we were there and there were miles of barbed wire.  

 On the night of 20 May, 1917, we were relieved, after a stay of eight days. We had a bad march out. 

We passed through a broken village and the stench was something awful ï of horses and men. We went to a 

place called Lagnicourt and camped in the bank of a road. Whilst waiting by the roadside the officer went 

ahead and Fritzy started to shell the road and he landed very close to the battalion. Men fell all over the 

place. About two fell on top of me in a gutter, but no-one was hit ï more scared than hurt.  

 The officer told us to come up and have a look at our camps and showed us around, and said, Go 

back to the road and get your packs. We just got near them when a big shell came roaring. We went flat and 

it covered us all over with grass and clods. We had just got up and over comes another, and down again. It 

went over us, but we got home, got to our possies, went to bunk and the next day we had a great clean up, 

with the consequence that thousands of chats lost their lives. We shaved and were men again. 

 When we werenôt asleep, we who could sing, sung songs. We left on 24 May, 1917, and went to 

Bapaume and we stayed there. It was all blown about. There was a church there blown down and there were 

hundreds of skulls in the vault, which was broken in. We wrote our names and addresses on them.  

 On 29 May, 1917, we went into tents and with drilling and route marching, we had a bad time of it. 

 The officers told us there to keep our gas helmets handy in case of gas. So one night the gas alarm 

went [off] up the line, a big horn. It could be heard for miles and some of us could not find them [the gas 

masks]. We got very excited, but the gas never came. 

 We went from there to a village called Senlis on 17 June, 1917, and stayed there, with the usual 

drilling and route marching. On 23 July we went to Millencourt. Same drilling and torment generally, and we 

were entrained to St Omer on 30 July. We had a long and weary march to Blaringhem and he then took us on 

heart-breaking route marches and drilled sham attacks. We led a dogôs life. Once on a long march we were 

all tired, with heavy packs up, and we passed a German prison camp. The prisoners were playing football 

and they laughed at us. They used to say we were prisoners of war.  

 The French here told us the English, plenty promenade. Thatôs what we got having a spell. We were 

all glad when the spell was over, as they called it. We left on 17 September, 1917, and went to Steenvorde 

and camped and went to Poperinghe [Wippenhoek area] on 18 September. We were told here to hold 

ourselves in readiness, for there were big things doing. Here the roads were lined with men, guns and 

limbers. It was like a hive. They here asked us to all make a Will, which we had to do. On 25 September, 

1917, the battalion went into the line and fought the big fight at Passchendaele [Polygon Wood]. 

  



DIGGER 28 Issue 54 

 

21625 Ken Beames: soldier, industrialist, telescope maker 
Graeme Hosken, Dubbo, with acknowledgment to Wayne Orchiston, biographer of Ken Beames. 

 

omething about the grave caught my wifeôs attention 

as we wandered through the Gilgandra (NSW) 

cemetery, looking for soldiersô headstones. Perhaps it 

was the stark simplicity of the headstone, the bare earth, or 

the way the grave seemed to be getting shouldered out of the 

way by its neighbour [right ]. Helen could see the (unusual) 

word óobservatoryô on the small plaque, so I bent down to 

read the rest of the wording for her: Ken Beames, 1899-

1989, AIF & Founder Linden Observatory [below]. We had 

found another Digger! (Or had he found us?) 

  

Neither Helen nor I had heard of the Linden 

Observatory (the Siding Springs 

Observatory is at the nearby town of 

Coonabarabran), and a connection between a 

Digger and an observatory was certainly not 

a common one, so I pencilled Ken Beames 

under ósomeone to research one dayô.   

*   *   *   *  
Kenneth (óKenô) Beames was born in Binnaway (90 km ENE of Gilgandra) on 16 August, 1899, and was 

working in Gilgandra as a postal assistant (telegram delivery boy) when he enlisted on 16 August, 1917, his 

18
th
 birthday. Ken was attested the day before his birthday in East Sydney, where he gave his age as 18 years 

and one month ï there can be little doubt that he was keen to join the AIF.  

 Ken was the seventh of eight children and nominated as next of kin his mother, Mrs Alice Beames. 

His father was óabsent, prospecting in Queensland, address unknownô, at the time. Ken stood 5ô8İò tall and 

weighed 102 pounds, had fresh complexion, grey eyes and dark hair.  

 Ken had no prior militia experience but had some knowledge of signalling from a brother-in-law, 

who had served in the British Army. Sensibly, Beames was allocated to the Wireless Training School at 

Moore Park on 21 August, 1917, as a sapper.  

 Beames embarked on the Port Darwin from Sydney on 30 April, 1918, and disembarked at Suez on 

7 June. From there, Ken headed to the Reinforcements Camp at Moascar, then on 9 July was transferred to 

the Signallers Training Unit as a wireless operator. 

 By 4 August, Ken was sufficiently trained to join the 1
st
 Signals Squadron of the 1

st
 Anzac 

Mounted Division. However, only three days later he was admitted to hospital in Jerusalem. Ken moved 

through the 66
th
 Casualty Clearing Station, the 76

th
 CCS (10-12 August, at Ludd) and the 44

th
 Stationary 

Hospital at Kantara (12-13 August). Later on 13
 
August, he was transferred to the 31

st
 General Hospital in 

Cairo, where he stayed for nearly one month (condition not stated).  

 Sapper Beames then marched out to the Convalescent Depot on 11 September, 1918, and stayed 

there for nine days. He rejoined the Signallers Training Unit on 20 September and rejoined the 1
st
 Signals 

Squadron eight days later, just before the Armistice with the Turks was signed.  

 As a late arrival to the war, Ken had to wait until 3 July, 1919, before sailing from Kantara aboard 

the Malta for Australia. He was discharged from the AIF on 21 September. 

 While Ken Beames had not seen any action in the war, he must have left the armed forces with a 

good grounding in signalling and electronics. 

*   *   *   *  
On his return to Australia, Ken Beames completed a two year electrical fitters course at Sydney Technical 

College through the Returned Servicemenôs Retraining Scheme. Ken then worked as a telephone technician 

for several years and made radios before establishing his own business, K Beames Engineering Company, in 

1924. The success of his business gave Ken the time, money and workshop to pursue his passion of 

astronomical-telescope making.  

S 
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 Wayne Orchiston describes Kenôs involvement in the Second World War effort: 

During WWII the companyôs combined skills in engineering and optics were channelled into mass-producing 

sighting telescopes and signalling lamps for the Royal Australian Navy. A 1941 newspaper article about 

Beames titled óBack-yard War Effort of Kenneth Beamesô starts with the following perceptive observation: 

óNormally Navy canôt have beams without lamps. These days it canôt have lamps without Beames!ô A number 

of years after the war, Beames moved his business to Linden [in the Blue Mountains] and remained there 

until his death on 28 March, 1989. 

 

Ken Beames had become interested in astronomy in the 1930s and studied 

optics and mathematics. In 1934 he completed his first telescope, and by 

1941 had ground an 82 kg mirror in the basement of his home in Sydney, 

ready to fit into a 3½ ton telescope [right ].  

 Ken found a 20 hectare block of land at Linden, 80 km west of 

Sydney and 500 m above sea level, where he could build his telescope and 

view the night skies. The Linden Observatoryôs dome was completed in 

1947. The observatory became operational in 1959, and now contains three 

instruments.  

 

 
Above: Photographs of Ken Beames, his telescope and observatory, from lindenobservatory.com.au. 

  

In 1967, Ken began to design a full-scale planetarium, which he planned to install under an 18.3 m dome on 

his property. Though nearly completed in 1982, intermittent illness and flagging energy, meant that the 

planetarium was not finished by the time of Kenôs death in 1989.  

 Interestingly, Orchiston notes that Ken had little interest in observational astronomy; he seems to 

have been more focussed on the engineering aspect of telescopes and observatories, and later in his life, the 

planetarium.  

 Orchiston describes Ken Beames as:  

é someone who was hard to get to know well é a short, thin man, with a hawkish intelligent face, a glint in 

his eye, and an absorbing passion for astronomy é he was also a very quiet, solitary, unassuming man, and 

in his twilight years became increasingly estranged from the astronomical fraternity as he turned to 

mysticism, religion and psychical phenomenon in a bid to understand the mysteries of the universe.    

 

The Linden Observatory was left to a Trust to ensure that the site be preserved to promote the study of 

astronomy. Brett White, an amateur astronomer, discovered two supernovae (exploding stars) using the 

telescope, in 1998 and 2000. It is now jointly managed by the Linden Observatory and Museum Association. 

On 3 January, 2010, the NSW Government announced that the Linden Observatory was to be placed on the 

State Heritage Register.  

 Ken Beames was survived by his second wife. For whatever 

reason, Ken was buried in Gilgandra, where he had lived prior to enlisting 

in the AIF (but not after), in a single grave unconnected to any parentsô or 

siblingsô graves. It is a shame that a man described as óAustraliaôs 

foremost optics manufacturer for much of the 20
th
 centuryô [SMH, 

3/1/2010], a Great War volunteer and a person who contributed much to 

the war effort in WWII, should rest today in an earthen grave with a 

headstone unbefitting his status. [Right: rear view of headstone.]  
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Sources: 

Ken Beames: Australian telescope-maker extraordinaire, Wayne Orchiston, a speech given in NZ in 2010, 

found at:  
http://articles.adsabs.harvard.edu/cgi-bin/nphiarticle_query?bibcode=1997JBAA..107...83O&db_key=AST&page_ind=1&plate_select=NO&data_ 

ype=GIF&type=SCREEN_GIF&classic=YES 

Honour puts stellar Beames in spotlight, Sydney Morning Herald, 3 January, 2010. 

Photos from lindenobservatory.com.au.  

Endnotes: (1) According to the Linden Observatory website, during WWII Kenôs company also 

manufactured naval artillery fuse gaskets for the British Navy and parts for the airframes of Mosquito 

bombers for the Royal Australian Air Force. (2) Visits to Ken Beamesô Linden Observatory can be made by 

booking, using the contact form available at the website. The observatory is located between Woodford and 

Faulconbridge. (3) Some websites and press releases state that Ken enlisted under-age for the AIF, but there 

is no evidence for this.  

________________________________________________________________ 

Letters from the front, Gallipoli 1915 
 
PLAYING A NERVY GAME. 
Patrol work in busy country like the Dardanelles is a nervy game, explains Sergeant CB Marshall of óDô 

Company, 12
th
 Battalion, in a letter to his mother, written in the trenches on May 16. He says:  

I am still all right (hear the machine guns cracking, warning tea time). Things are going along just 

(bang) like war. I really believe both sides are in earnest. We have been getting shelled very heavily 

with shrapnel right through, but when you consider the shots the enemy fire, to say the most, they are 

doing us little damage, though, of course, there are always several poor fellows getting wounded. 

But the Australians seem to be very light-hearted about the matter. 

I have had several narrow escapes myself, but good luck seems to be my fortune. The first Sunday I 

had my water bottle blown away, and yesterday while [cleaning] my rifle in my dugout a shell burst 

right above me and blew all the woodwork off, and the spent shrapnel bullets lay at my side.  

We have developed very fair trenches now; in fact, ours are the best in the lines and, in my 

opinion the firing line is easily the safest place: We use periscopes for look-outs, and they are very 

useful instruments for the work, as there are snipers close in front (bang) ready to give you a gentle 

reminder if you should show your head above the parapet.  

I have had two goes at patrol work (voluntary); first, myself and three privates; second, one officer, 

four NCOs and 50 men. It is a fairly nervy game in such busy country. Sergeant --- is going out on a 

job tonight, and I wish him all luck. On our left the trenches are only from 15 to 20 yards apart, and 

the fighting is all done by hand grenades. I always thought it a joke when I read of the game in 

France, but am convinced now.   

 

Author: Private (later Lieutenant) Clarence Beaumont Marshall, 12
th
 Bn and 52

nd
 Bn. Enl. 5/9/14, KIA 

24.4.18, aged 27. From Birkenhead, SA. MID for conspicuous gallantry and valuable service, 1915.  
Source: óThe Advertiserô (Adelaide, SA), 7 July, 1915. Found on Trove. 

 

A FAME THAT WILL NEVER DIE. 
Mr and Mrs John Young, of North Unley, have received a letter from the Rev. John Page, superintendent 

minister of the Chichester (England) United Methodist Church, concerning their son, Private WE Young, 

who is in hospital at Chichester. Mr Page writes:  

You all know by this time that your soldier sons from Australia have got themselves a name and a 

fame that will never die as long as English-speaking people exist. 

 

Private Young writes to his parents of the landing at Gaba Tepe: 

I donôt think there was one of us hesitated. All fear of death left me. All I thought of was revenge 

when my dearest mate fell by my side. I longed to pick him up, but could not, as duty was ahead. One 

of the heads of the War Office came to see us in hospital. He said to me, óYou ought to be proud to 

call yourself an Australian. Never has such, bravery been known in modern war.ô I pray I am spared 

to return and tell the tale from beginning to end, but there is a lot of fighting to be done yet.  

 

Source: óThe Advertiserô (Adelaide, SA), 7 July, 1915. Found on Trove. Pte WE Young unidentified.  

http://articles.adsabs.harvard.edu/cgi-bin/nphiarticle_query?bibcode=1997JBAA..107...83O&db_key=AST&page_ind=1&plate_s
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Go forward to France 
Shirley Durrant, Darlington. 

This paper was awarded second place in Sandra Playleôs óWhen WWI Came to Western Australiaô writing 

competition. The first place essay was published in DIGGER 53. 

 

mong the names on the Australian National Memorial at Villers-Bretonneux, a village in the Somme 

Department in Picardie, Northern France, the story of three is a poignant one. The names etched on 

the Memorial are the lasting tribute to those who have no known grave. 

 On the other side of the world in towns across Western Australia, communities were drawn together 

in grief as they tried to make sense of what was happening so far away. A small private Church of England 

School for Boys, on the banks of the Swan River, reflected the general sense of euphoria and eagerness to 

answer the call-to-arms and to fight overseas. Then, a growing sense of unease spread as the realities of war 

settled in, to be followed by profound grief and desolation reflecting the huge loss of life and the return home 

of men and women whose lives were changed forever. 

*  *  *  

Three boys from Guildford Grammar School, with its proud motto óGo Forwardô, joined this ófirst world 

warô in its final stages. They had all been at the School in 1913; the younger two sharing another year 

together. The School Magazine, óThe Swanô, together with information found in the service records at the 

National Archives, provide details that give us an insight into their lives all those years ago. 

 An interesting account in óThe Swanô of June 1908 documents the start of the School Cadet Corps: 

We are glad to be able to announce that at last the Cadet Corps has been definitely formed, and that from 

now onwards we take our place as an integral part of the newly organised Fifth Battalion of Western 

Australian Cadets, which consists solely of companies from the Secondary Public Schools. 

 

It goes on to describe this initiative with the Military Department of the Commonwealth, and that, after much 

discussion, it had been agreed that the battalion would consist of six companies, one from the High School, 

two from Christian Brothers College, two from Scotch College and one from Guildford Grammar School.  

The command of the whole battalion was to be accepted by the schoolôs headmaster, Mr Stewart Corr, who 

talked about the value of training our boys so that they would be able to defend their country in the future if 

it became necessary, and that parents realised the worth for their sonsô physical development and discipline.  

 No one could possibly have imagined what was in the near future for their cadets and sons. 

*  *  *  

John Douglas King was born in Guildford, the son of Henry Sandford King and Dorothy Elizabeth 

Geraldine Lefroy. His father, Henry, was the Secretary for Lands and Surveyor General in Western 

Australia. At school, John captained the boat, cricket and football teams, was a runner-up champion athlete 

in the Inter-schoolôs athletic sports in 1912, and was a school prefect. After he left the school he went to 

work on the farm at Manjimup with his brother Percy. While there appears to be some confusion as to his 

age (22 years and six months on his enlistment papers, with 26 on the particulars required for the Roll of 

Honour), taking into consideration his school activities, a birth date in 1894 would seem to be the most 

likely. 

 Private 8008 John Douglas King, 51
st
 Battalion AIF, enlisted at Blackboy Hill on 19 April, 1917. It 

was noted that he was 5ô9ò tall, with brown hair and eyes, and had served with the Senior Cadets and Citizen 

Forces. He embarked on the HMAT Aeneas from Melbourne on 30 October, 1917, and disembarked at 

Devonport, England, just after Christmas. He joined the 2
nd

 Training Battalion at Sutton Veny and on 1 April 

he arrived in France via Dover and Calais. John proceeded to join his unit and on 13 April he was taken on 

strength in the field. 

 

Geoffrey William Edward Greatorex was born in February, 1898, in Cloisters, Westminster Abbey, 

England. He was the son of the Reverend Theophilus and Maude Greatorex of the Rectory, Guildford. 

Geoffrey was 10 years and 10 months old when he migrated with his family to Western Australia. While not 

a great sportsman at school, óThe Swanô magazine notes he was ñalways a great trier with any amount of 

pluck,ò and that he was admired for his cheerfulness and quiet determination. He served in the Senior 

Cadets, was a school prefect and worked on Mr Coxôs farm at Coolup after leaving the sixth form. 

 Private 7986 Geoffrey William Edward Greatorex, 51
st
 Battalion AIF, was 19 years old, 5ô10ò tall, 

with light brown hair and blue eyes, when he enlisted on 22 March, 1917, in Bunbury. Together with John 

Douglas King, he embarked on HMAT Aeneas and followed the same route via Melbourne to France, 

joining his unit on 13 April, 1918 in the Field. 

A 
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Edward Carey Brenton Coward, the youngest of the three lads, was born in May, 1899, in Brixham, 

Devon, Cornwall, to George Edward Coward and Florence Emily Brenton. They left England, and Edward 

was 13 years old when they arrived in Perth. óThe Swanô writes that he was at the school for two years and 

left in the fourth form to enter the West Australia Bank, and that he formed and successfully managed a 

boysô club in Osborne Park and was much liked. The particulars required for the Roll of Honour state that he 

was a scout master and held the rank of sergeant in the West Australian Cadet Corps. It also documents an 

impressive list of his familyôs military credentials. His brother, George Brenton Coward, RAF, was awarded 

a Distinguished Flying Cross. Edward was the great grandson of Admiral Sir Jahleel Brenton ACG, who 

distinguished himself in 1810 in the war against France. He was also the great nephew of General George 

Jackson Carey, at one time an acting Governor of Victoria. 

 Private 7709 Edward Carey Brenton Coward, 51
st
 Battalion AIF, enlisted on 29 June, 1917 in 

Fremantle. He was just 18 years old.  Edward embarked on HMAT Borda and disembarked at Plymouth, 

UK. He also passed through the camp at Sutton Veny, and had a short stay in hospital there. On 31 March, 

1918, he was sent to France, and on 4 April proceeded to join his unit. He was taken on strength in the field 

on 13 April, 1918. 

*  *  *  

These three soldiers from Western Australia, their ideals, hopes and beliefs shaped by their family 

upbringing, a Church of England School ethos, time spent in the Cadet Corps, and a rallying ócall to armsô in 

the community, entered the fight for their lives on the Western Front in Europe, with the 51
st
 Battalion.  

Neville Browning has written a definitive History of the Battalion [óFix Bayonetsô, 2000], and he notes that 

it was formed in Egypt in March 1916 with some Gallipoli veterans of the 11
th
 Battalion and reinforcements 

from Australia. The men were primarily from the West, and after exercises and marches in the desert they 

left Alexandria in June 1916. 

 The óWest Australianô newspaper in its Friday edition, 29 November, 1929, carries a most 

descriptive account of the 51
st
 Battalion. Soon after arrival in France, the battalion faced all the horrors of the 

front line. From Fleurbaix, Pozieres, Fabeck Graben, through to Mouquet Farm, the men were subjected to 

intense barrages of shell and machine-gun fire, the rain and mud in the trenches, the misery of so many 

wounded and a terrible death toll. It goes on to note grimly that the battle in September, 1916, at Mouquet 

Farm was the unitôs most memorable engagement and that it was only in 1927 that the War Graves 

Commission had disclosed that the attacking parties of the 51
st
 Battalion had all died in pursuit of the 

objective, capturing a trench. After this brutal baptism of fire, the Brigade had to survive a bitter and freezing 

winter. 

 Fighting continued into 1917. In April 1917, an attack was unleashed at Noreuil against a well-

fortified German position, and while the Hindenburg Line was breached, ultimately the assault was 

unsuccessful, and the total casualties, wounded and killed, were listed as 231 all ranks. During the move to 

the Flanders Sector, the 51
st
 were again in the fight; this time the attack at Messines with heavy casualties.

 
As 

the battalion moved by bus towards Passchendaele, a description by Browning paints a vivid picture of a 

moment in time that captures the dreary progress of this war: 

The countryside had the appearance of a wasteland after the ravages of three years of continuous warfare. 

The roads were pitted with shell holes and lined with trees torn and blasted by shellfire. The roads contained 

a never-ending stream of khaki-clad figures, marching relentlessly forward. The sky was full of aeroplanes 

and the constant rattle of machine-gun fire from battles waged above, in the clouds. Observation balloons 

marked the Front. They were huge and motionless monoliths, with a tiny basket slung underneath, 

containing observers watching for troop movements and directing a rain of death upon anyone unfortunate 

enough to warrant their attention. The forward area in the Ypres sector was a scene of perpetual activity. 

 

September 1917 saw the 51
st
 prepare for battle to end the deadlock of months in this sector. This was 

Polygon Wood, and though the battalion gained its objective, it was at a cost of 51 killed in action, 130 

wounded and others sick. They returned to the Somme to survive another winter.  

 This then was the battle-weary battalion that John King, Geoffrey Greatorex and Edward Coward 

had travelled so far to join.  

 On 24 April, 1918, the 51
st
 Battalion, as part of the 13

th
 Brigade, received its orders to prepare to go 

into action: Villers-Bretonneux had been captured by the Germans. An offensive, as part of a strategic plan 

to gain control of Amiens and destabilise the British and French Armies, had used gas, tanks and the full 

force of machine guns to attack and overrun the British lines. The Australians [13
th
 and 15

th
 Brigades] were 

given the task to counter-attack and reverse this disastrous situation. A night assault, without preliminary 

artillery bombardment, was planned to start at 10.00 pm.  
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 There were quite a few teenagers in the last draft of reinforcements, but they marched toe to toe with 

their peers. This could well describe the three lads from Guildford Grammar School as they prepared to fight.  

 The shelling and machine-gun fire was immediate and the fight was bitter and brutal. As the troops 

advanced, so did the numbers of those who were wounded and killed. There was no place to take cover and 

the Very lights cast a ghastly spotlight over the battlefield. The men kept going, slowly, steadily advancing. 

 Geoffrey Greatorex was killed on 24 April, 1918. It would seem 

that he died in the first one and a half hours of action. Right: Photo of 

Greatorex from óThe Swanô, August 1918. 

 

As the fighting continued, the night was the scene of grim determination 

to survive. Lieutenant Sadlier was awarded the Victoria Cross and 

Sergeant Stokes the Distinguished Conduct Medal for destroying enemy 

guns and their crews in the Bois DôArquenne, before the battalion could 

be annihilated by them. Sadlier was badly wounded in this brave 

skirmish. The advance continued relentlessly, and as the troops made for 

a vacant British trench, protected by barbed wire and entanglements, 

there is another brief and chilling statement: 

The 51
st
 Battalion was held up struggling through the wire. Most of the 

casualties suffered by the battalion were incurred at this spot é Scorched bodies and burnt uniforms bore 

mute testimony to the accuracy of the German machine guns a day later when a burial party moved through 

the area. The wire was draped with the bodies of dead Australians. 

 

This could describe the time when John King lost his life on 25 April, 

1918. Right: John King, from óThe Swanô, August 1918. 

 

Edward Coward [below, from óThe Swanô, August 1918] also was killed 

on 25 April, 1918. Private 3638 CM Anderson states that he was with 

Edward in óBô Company, óVô Platoon. He thought Edward was killed 

outright, early on the 25
th
, ñby a piece of shrapnel which entered his head 

as we advanced near Villers-Bretonneuxò. This is confirmed by an 

official copy of a statement in his Service Files with the National 

Archives: 

It is advised that the above-mentioned soldier was killed by shell-fire 

instantaneously while on a fatigue party near the outskirts of Villers-

Bretonneux on the 25th April, 1918. Owing to the nature of the 

operations, Pte Coward was not buried by this battalion and it is not known whether he was buried or not. 

 

A statement in the Red Cross Files by Private 7979 E Donnelly reported 

that: ñCoward ECB is buried at Villers-Bretonneux by the side of the 

wood on the left front of the village.ò
 
 

 The Australians continued to push on. Fighting continued, with 

killing by machine-gun fire and bayonet charges. Slowly, over the next 

two days, the Australians, together with British forces were able to 

complete their brief, and retake Villers-Bretonneux. The number of 

Australian casualties, all ranks, between 21 March and 7 May is given as 

15 083.  

 The people of Villers-Bretonneux have never forgotten the 

Australian sacrifice. Their school is called Victoria School and the first 

floor houses a museum, dedicated to telling the story of the Australian 

Imperial Force during World War I. On 25 April, an Anzac Dawn 

Service is televised live from Villers-Bretonneux and has become an integral part of Anzac Day 

Commemoration in Australia. The Commonwealth War Graves Commission records 10 765 names on the 

Australian National Memorial at Villers-Bretonneux, remembering with honour those with no known grave. 

 The Monuments Australia website tells the story of the 51
st
 Battalion Memorial Cross. It is preserved 

and at home in St Georges Cathedral, Perth. The original cross had been erected on the battlefield in 1918 in 

memory of all those who died there. 
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 On Anzac Day, 1918, three young men, who knew each other at school and had separately joined up 

to fight for their country, had travelled to the other side of the world and trained together in England, now lay 

together on a bloodied battlefield, near Villers-Bretonneux in Picardie, France. The sad task began to let their 

families know the news. 

 Cables arrived at homes in Perth and letters were sent and received regarding the boysô wills, 

probate, and their personal effects. A simple communication between Rev Theophilus Greatorex and the 

army revealed the sad disconnect between grieving families who could not have imagined the horror and 

complete devastation of the battlefields, and a military machine that had to deal with the ramifications of 

thousands of dead and wounded soldiers, and their relatives. The Reverend asked if the army could forward 

to him his sonôs kitbag, overcoat and any other belongings he is entitled to as his father. The Officer at Base 

Records replied that a package had been sent to him. He goes on to say that ñthe kit bags of deceased soldiers 

being part of the military equipment and the property of the Government would not be returned, but any 

articles of sentimental value found therein, would be extracted and forwarded. Military overcoats are issued 

only to discharged members of the AIF.ò [Service Files, NAA.]   

 How could he tell Geoffreyôs father that he was lucky there was anything to be found, and that any 

overcoats and kitbags that survived the mud, blood, scorching or bullets, would probably be gratefully used 

by another soldier. The family received a bank deposit slip, two discs, one wallet, one fountain pen, letters, 

five photos and one map. 

 In addition to the personal effects retrieved and posted to families, the army also endeavoured to 

send them the medals they had earned, a memorial plaque, a pamphlet óWhere Australians Restô, and a 

booklet re graves. The three soldiers were awarded the British War Medal and the Victory Medal. 

 News reached the School, and the words of the editor of óThe Swanô, as it recorded 36 names on its 

Roll of Honour, reflected the sad duty that had become a familiar task: 

We have with sorrow to record the death of six more Old Boys. Their loss is felt the more keenly because 

most of them were known to many of the present generation; all were of sterling quality, Old Boys whom any 

school would be proud to have sent in such service, and all had a very real love for the school. To their 

relatives we extend our very deep and sincere sympathy. 

*  *  *  

Today, their names are engraved on a fine wooden Honour Board in the dining room, and on a War 

Memorial in the courtyard near the chapel. Their names have been found by those visiting the Australian 

National Memorial at Villers-Bretonneux, and on the bronze panels of the War Memorial in Canberra.  

 In 2015, Guildford Grammar School, on the eve of the centenary of the landings at Gallipoli in 1915, 

held their Anzac Service at dawn, down by the river in front of Woodbridge House where the school had its 

beginnings. To the sound of the dawn chorus, every Old Boy who had lost his life in service to their country 

had his name spoken by a student of the school today, and crosses bearing their names were placed on the 

riverbank, in their honour. Lest We Forget. 

 

 

Above, left to right: JD Kingôs name appears on the Guildford War Memorial, whose foundation stone was 

unveiled on 4 January, 1920, by General William Birdwood on a visit to WA; the Roll of Honour at 

Guildford Grammar School; the memorial at Guildford Grammar School to the ex-students and staff killed in 

the Great War. 
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Postscript: Private Joseph Kleshenko (aka Joseph Klesh) 
Heather óFrevô Ford, Montrose. 

With her database on Digger overseas marriages, Frev has been able to contribute further information on 

the life of Joseph Kleshenko, the Russian AIF enlistment who was featured in DIGGER 53.   

 

oseph Kleshenko was born on 28 December, 1892, at Dubno, Volhynia, Russia. He arrived in Sydney, 

20 July, 1912, from San Francisco on the Kokou. He was employed for a period of about eight months 

during 1913 as an assistant to Mr Robert Marshall, proprietor of a merry-go-round and refreshment 

room on The Corso, Manly. Joseph was employed as a deckhand on the Manly Ferry Steamers before 

enlisting in 1915, at which time he gave his occupation as engineer. [http://russiananzacs.net/Kleshenko] 

 Kleshenko enlisted a total of five times in the AIF but spent his war in and out of hospital, and didnôt 

serve in the field. He apparently was employed as a conductor on the NSW Government Tramways for about 

four months between enlistments. Joseph married Ethel Bateman in the September Quarter of 1917 at 

Chorlton, Lancashire, England. Ethel was born c1899 Manchester, England, and was living 32 James St, 

Lower Crumpsall, Manchester, in July 1918. 

 Joseph returned to Australia on the Corinthic (10/1/1918 ï 3/3/1918) and was an inmate of the 

Returned Soldierôs Military Hospital, St Georgeôs Heights, Mosman, in May 1918. Joseph applied for free 

passage for Ethel in 1918, but no further information has yet been found on Ethel, either in England or 

Australia. It is possible that she did not come to Australia.  

 Kleshenko was naturalised in September, 1918; his address at the time was Rose Hall, Darlinghurst. 

 I found a child born to Joseph: Roy Patrick. Roy was old enough to be listed on the Electoral Roll in 

1936, thus he would have had to have been born c1915. On his death in 1976, Royôs mother is listed as 

Madeline. 

 Joseph sailed as a member of the crew on the SS Wandilla in 1921, and had his Naturalisation 

Certificate, together with other documents, stolen from him whilst in New York. He returned to Australia as 

a fireman on the Canadian Winner, arriving Sydney on 17 July, 1921. He applied for a new Certificate on 14 

August, 1925, as he intended on leaving Sydney on the SS Orama on 22 August. At the time he was living at 

15B Arthur Street South, Lavender Bay, Sydney. 

 Joseph Kleshenko now seems to have shortened his surname to Klesh. Under Joseph Klesh, I found 

the following: 

1930 Sands Index address: Harbour View Crescent, North Sydney; 

1933 Electoral Roll (ER): 14 Baroona Rd, Northbridge ï Joseph (no occup.); Madeline Maud (home duties); 

1934 ER: 186 York Street North, Darling Harbour ï Joseph (ironworker); Madeline (home duties); 

1937 ER: as above, also including Roy Patrick (Plumber) [1936 he is listed in Qld]. 

 Joseph Klesh married Madeline Maud Cotton in Sydney in 1938. Madeline died 11 March, 1939. 

Joseph then married Dorothy Adelaide Wynne in Randwick in 1943. He was noted as living at 84 

Carrington Road, Randwick North, in 1943, and employed as a wharf labourer. 

 Klesh was listed as a foreman stevedore at the time of his death, and late of York Street North, City. 

He died 3 August, 1947, in NSW, and his ashes are in the Northern Suburbs Gardens and Crematorium, 

Church of England, Section K, Row 11, Grave 5. 

 óThe Sydney Morning Heraldô (NSW), Tuesday, 5 August 1947 (p22): 

FUNERALS 

KLESHENKO ï The Relatives and Friends of Mrs Dorothy Klesh and Family, of 186 York Street 

North, City, are invited to attend the Funeral of her dearly beloved Husband and their loving Father, 

JOSEPH; to leave the Kinsela Chapels, Taylor Square, Darlinghurst, this Tuesday, after service to 

commence at 1 pm for the Northern Suburbs Crematorium. 

 

In the 1949 ER, Roy Patrick Klesh (waterside worker) and his stepmother, Dorothy Adelaide, were living at 

186 York Street in Sydney. 

 The following information was found at the website: http://www.shfa.nsw.gov.au/sydney-About_us 

Our_heritage_role-Heritage_and_Conservation_Register.htm&objectid=72. 

The Klesh family, who lived at No. 186 for 43 years, occupied the terrace the longest. Joseph Klesh, 

probably an immigrant, moved into the house in 1933. In 1938 he married Madeline Cotton; the 

following year she died. In 1943, Joseph Klesh remarried and remained at No. 186 with his second 

wife Dorothy until his death in 1947. Roy Patrick Klesh, the son of Madeline and Joseph, married 

Patricia Smith in 1951 and remained at the house, but did not apply for tenancy to be transferred to 

his name until 1962. The tenancy of the Klesh family at No. 186 ended with the death of Roy in 1976. 

J 

http://russiananzacs.net/Kleshenko
http://www.shfa.nsw.gov.au/sydney-About_us%20Our_heritage_role-Heritage_and_Conservation_Register.htm&objectid=72
http://www.shfa.nsw.gov.au/sydney-About_us%20Our_heritage_role-Heritage_and_Conservation_Register.htm&objectid=72
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óRussian Soldier in Grafton: Corporal Kleshenkoôs experiencesô 
Article found on Trove by Heather óFrevô Ford, Montrose. Published in the óDaily Examinerô (Grafton, 

NSW), Tuesday, 7 December, 1915 (p2): http://trove.nla.gov.au/ndp/del/article/195179083. A comparison 

with Kleshenkoôs service record (see DIGGER 53 article), and the events he describes ï inaccurately ï 

reveals that Kleshenko was a much better storyteller than he was a soldier ï Ed.   

 

orporal Joseph Kleshenko is a young Russian soldier, who two years ago left his native land and 

came to Australia. He had been here little more than a year when the war broke out, and immediately 

offered his services.  
 Not being a British subject, the authorities stated they could not accept him. He then communicated 

with the Russian Consul in Melbourne, who promptly cabled the facts to Petrograd and received word back 

that the Governments of both England and Russia had agreed to the enlistment with the Commonwealth 

Forces of those Russian reservists who were then in Australia. The corporal was thereupon admitted to the 

Sixth Light Horse, under Colonel Cox, and went into camp at Holdsworthy, where he remained for three 

weeks, leaving on December 18 for Egypt.  

 He arrived there a month later, and proceeded to Malta, where, as he puts it, ñwe had, six months 

physical hard trainingò. Corporal Kleshenko, with the Sixth and Seventh Light Horse, was eventually 

ordered to Gallipoli, and effected a landing at Gaba Tepe at midnight on April 27. They charged the Turks 

with fixed bayonets, and fought till 4 oôclock in the morning. The fighting was terrific, the enemy being three 

to one. ñI had been thoroughly trained in the use of the bayonet in the army of my own country, and had a 

big pull over the Turks. I got the first one in the neck and threw him back, no more anyone to trouble. I 

accounted for three before I got thisò (showing a scar on the back of the right hand, through which a bayonet 

had been driven).  

 He was taken to Malta for treatment, but was able to return to the firing line in three weeks. After a 

day and a half in [the] trenches he received three bullet wounds in the right leg; these necessitating eight 

weeks treatment in the military hospital at Alexandria. He was given the choice of a trip to Australia or some 

other part. He selected Australia. 

 Speaking of the progress being made in Gallipoli, the corporal said that at the time he was injured on 

the second occasion, he was two and a half miles inland. He does not think much progress is possible until 

the Allies there now are reinforced. He had no time, he said, for the men with cold feet ï they should not be 

asked, they should be sent.  

 ñAnyone should be glad to fight for a country like Australia. In none can a soldier be treated fairer ï 

well paid, well clad, and well looked after by kind people. It is the freest country in the world, and everyone 

should rise up and fight for it. I go back to fight with your soldiers ï brave men, good fighters, good 

comrades, like a joke ï as soon as this leg gets right.  

 ñSingle and married men all go in my country. Someone does not come to you and say, óWill you 

join the colours?ô Nothing so gentle. It is done like this: When war breaks out, officers are sent with speed all 

over the country. They have to get the men to a certain spot by a certain time. It may be dead of night. A 

knock at the door and a brusque intimation to catch such and such a train at such and such a time. Fifteen 

minutes is given, and all take care to do it. Neglect to obey promptly means that you will be shot. In this way 

a million and a half have joined their reserves, and within 36 hours were on their way to meet the Germans. 

That is the way we do it in Russia, and, I hope to see Australia learn a little from this example of promptitude 

and thoroughness.ò  

 Corporal Kleshenko did not think that Australia, with five million people, had done nearly enough. 

ñAt least 400 000 soldiers should be sent. If that is done, the Turk will be knocked clean off the face of the 

earth. He is in great strength in the Dardanelles, and can be beaten only by greater numbers. There is no 

fairness in 30 000 men being asked to beat 60 000 trained and entrenched men. Let everyone go, and the 

Turkish Army will be wiped right out.ò 

 Russia, in this war, added the corporal, had lost over five million men in killed and wounded. She 

has, however, a trained army of twelve million more in the battlefield, and can put 20 000 000 there. Not old 

men, either, like the Germans. The trouble is lack of ammunition and heavy guns. These needs are being 

supplied by Japan, and the enemy within the next two years will be crushed to powder.  

 With an army of 1 600 000 now massed at Odessa and ready for transport, the young soldier 

anticipates that Bulgaria will be crushed like a nut and thrown into the Black Sea. Altogether, he is hopeful 

of seeing the utter rout of the enemy, who will, he tells us, be ignominiously defeated. Corporal Kleshenko 

had a brother killed in the Wyskow Pass (Carpathians), and another in the Lodz district during the fighting 

last year. He expects to return to the front himself after Christmas.  

C 

http://trove.nla.gov.au/ndp/del/article/195179083
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Lieutenant John Christie Wright, 20th Battalion, 
Principal, South Australian School of Art. 

Judith Green, Fitzroy, SA. 

  

 beautiful fountain in Macquarie Place Park, Sydney, commemorates Lieutenant John Christie 

Wright , a brilliant young sculptor who died at Bullecourt in May, 1917. A tall, handsome Scotsman, 

John Christie Wright was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, on 22 August, 1889, son of Moses Simpson 

Wright and Margaret (nee Christie) Wright.  

 Wright studied at the Aberdeen School of Art where he won the Byrne Scholarship and a scholarship 

to the Royal College of Art in London. He later furthered his studies in Paris. John came to Australia in May, 

1912, and worked with the architectural firm of Robertson and Marks where he designed and modelled the 

reliefs of many Sydney buildings, including Sydney University, Daily Telegraph, Public Trustee Company, 

and His Majestyôs Theatre. He constructed the large architectural model of Sydneyôs new zoological gardens 

at Taronga Park and produced the bronzes ñKnowledge, Fine Art and Commerceò and the stone figures 

ñJustice and Truthò.  

 In 1914, Alexander Mackie appointed him as foundation lecturer in art at Sydney Teachersô College 

and commissioned him to sculpt a portrait bust of his wife, Annie Mackie. In 1915, John Christie Wright 

won the Wynne Art Prize for the best piece of art work produced in New South Wales; this was the statue 

ñKnowledge, Fine Arts and Commerceò. In the same year the Sydney Society of Artists commissioned him 

to design the medal to commemorate the Gallipoli landings [see page 40]. 

 In January, 1916, he was appointed Principal of the South Australian School of Art but he had 

already enlisted, so his embarkation was delayed to enable him to spend a few months in Adelaide setting up 

the school. He was a visionary: he introduced new ideas; installed electric light; enlarged windows to lighten 

the studios; extended scholarships and laid down innovative courses of study.  

 John Wright then joined up as 2
nd

 lieutenant in the 17
th
 Reinforcements to the 20

th
 Battalion (NSW), 

with service number 15501. He embarked in Sydney on the Ascanius on 25 October, 1916, and spent some 

months at the officersô school on Salisbury Plain in England. On 11 March, 1917, he reached France and was 

killed in action on 2/3 May, 1917. He was smashed to pieces in a shell explosion just before the Second 

Bullecourt attack, which would see some 7 000 Australian casualties in little more than a week.  

 It was a tragic death and a tragic loss to Australian art. In óThe Story of Australian Artô, William 

Moore wrote of him, ñMr Godsell engaged this brilliant young sculptor to design and model the reliefs which 

embellish the exteriors of the Daily Telegraph, and the Public Trustee Company. These works have a vigour 

and a breadth of design unlike anything produced in Australia.ò 

 When he left Adelaide, John Christie Wright appointed Frederick Christian Britton  as acting 

principal of SA School of Art but Fred also enlisted, as a private, joining the Army Medical Corps, service 

number 20576. Fred was appointed an official war artist and worked with Web Gilbert  in London and 

France. Fred was a brilliant draughtsman and had worked with Egyptologist, Sir Flinders Petrie, on 

archaeological expeditions. Fred later lectured at East Sydney Technical College and died in 1931. Laurence 

Hotham Howie (profiled in DIGGER 53) was appointed Principal of SA School of Art in 1920. 

 John Christie Wright has no known grave and is remembered in the John Christie Wright Memorial 

Prize for the outstanding art student at the University of South Australia, and in the memorial fountain in 

Macquarie Place Park. This fountain, a curled copper leaf on a stone base, is in a setting of river stones and 

grasses surrounded by a pool and gardens. The fountain has a single vertical jet of water that contrasts with 

fan-shaped water that cascades onto the river stones.  

 Early in 1960, Mrs Jean Hague Smith offered to donate a fountain in memory of Wright and to bear 

the cost of its erection. Sydney sculptor Gerald Lewers (1905-1962) had just won a prize in the City 

Fountains Competition and was commissioned to produce the work. The fountain was completed in 1961 

and originally stood on the corner of Bridge and Loftus Streets, but because it was prone to vandal attacks it 

was moved to the park in 1981 and refurbished in 2012.  

 On the stone base is inscribed: ñIn memory of Lieutenant John Christie Wright, Sculptor, born 

Aberdeen Scotland, killed at Bullecourt 1917ò and lines by Rupert Brooke: 

These laid the world away; gave up the years to be 

Of work and joy, and that unhoped serene, 

That men call age; and those who would have been 

Their sons, they gave, their immortality.     

Continued on page 40 

A 



DIGGER 38 Issue 54 

 

The AIF in 1916: Fromelles and Pozieres 

 

This page, clockwise from top left: Pozieres British Cemetery (Neil Falconer); Pozieres British Cemetery 

from near Casualty Corner (Michelle Young); VC Corner Cemetery (Peter Morrissey); Cobbers Statue, 

Fromelles Park (P Morrissey); Looking towards Aubers Ridge and the Sugarloaf Salient from the Australian 

start line (P Morrissey). Next page, clockwise from top left: Pheasant Wood Cemetery (Frev Ford); Roses 

at VC Corner (Frev); the slouch hat on the Cobbers Statue (M Young); Reverend Maxtedôs grave, Rue-

Petillon (Geoff Lewis); The 1
st
 Division AIF Memorial, Pozieres (Frev). Thanks to our contributors. In the 

March 2017 issue, DIGGER will cover the AIF in 1917.  
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The AIF in 1916: Fromelles and Pozieres 
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Lieutenant John Christie Wright, 20th Bn (cont.) 
 

Right: John Christie Wright. Source: óObserverô (Adelaide), 26 May, 1917.  

Below left: óThe Green Bronzeô and Below right: óJeanô. Examples of work 

of John Christie Wright. Source: óObserverô, 4 March, 1916.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Left : The JC Wright 

Memorial Fountain has 

had several locations and 

settings. This photo was 

taken in 2005.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Below: The fountain 

after its move and 

refurbishment in 2012. 

Above left: The Daily Telegraph building, for which JC 

Wright produced the bronzes, óKnowledge, Fine Arts and 

Commerceô and the stone figures, óJustice and Truthô. Later 

known as The Trust Building, it was the tallest building in 

the City of Sydney until 1930. It is currently occupied by 

Westpac. Below left: The JC Wright Memorial Fountain in 

its 1960 setting and guise. 

Left : Believed to be the medal JC Wright 

designed to honour the 1915 Dardanelles 

Campaign. Courtesy Faye Threlfall.  

 

Endnotes: (1) When news of Wrightôs death reached Australia, the SA 
Premier said: ñLieutenant Wright was a young man of high attainments and 

of brilliant promise é He was a man who could ill be spared, but, having 

heard the cry and call of duty, he went forth to fight for the liberty of 

others.ò (2) Judith has found it quite a challenge to locate images of 

artworks of JC Wright. The Art Gallery of NSW had no further information. 

She would love to find the Christieôs bust of Annie Mackie. The Editor has made some inquiries but there 

appears to be none of Christieôs artworks in the University of Sydney (inc. STC) Art Gallery.   
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Trooper 2043 David OôRourke, 12th LHR: óthe baby of the Coo-eesô 
Trevor Munro, Dubbo. 

 

A recent phone call and follow up e-mails from Andrew Carswell, senior journalist with the Daily Telegraph, 

spurred Trevor into looking at some of the Wellington men that joined the Coo-ee March back in October, 

1915. Andrewôs interest was in several of the younger marchers, one of whom was Dave OôRourke. This is a 

reminder of OôRourkeôs service during the Great War.  

 

lthough giving his age as 18 years, David OôRourke (óDaveô) was probably aged 16, or even 15 

years and 4 months, if his date of birth was 2 June, 1900 (as a researcher friend believes), when he 

joined the ranks of the Coo-ee March as it passed through the Wellington district in October, 1915. 

His official place of enlistment was Stuart Town (incorrectly recorded as óStewart Townô) when he signed 

his enlistment papers on 19 October. Daveôs mother, Harriet, had been married to John OôRourke; the 

OôRourkes being pioneers in the Mudgee-Gulgong district where John had run a coach service. With Johnôs 

death, Harriet later remarried, to Thomas Lonergan in 1914, and the family at some stage moved to 

Wellington. 

 

The photo above was taken as the Coo-ees arrived at Geurie, between Dubbo and Wellington. The source 

(The Sydney Mail), gave detailed descriptions of the Coo-ee March and featured numerous photos taken 

along the way. Unfortunately, there are no photos of the marchers in Wellington township itself.  

 For quite a while Dave carried the nickname, the óbaby of the Coo-ees.ô When the Coo-ees were 

allocated to various units, Dave opted to join the Light Horse and became part of the 13
th
 Reinforcements to 

the 12
th
 Light Horse Regiment, then training at Menangle (near Campbelltown, NSW). While Dave was 

training in April 1916, he received the news that his twin brother, Patrick, had died after falling from a horse 

at Neurea, east of Wellington. The Wellington Times described Patrick as being óa youth between 16 and 17 

years of ageô (further verification that Dave was well short of 18).   

 The 13
th
 Reinforcements boarded the Clan MacCorquodale at the Port of Melbourne in September 

1916, bound for the Middle East. They disembarked at Suez on 19 October, for further training at the 4
th
 

Light Horse Training Regiment at Moascar. 

 Dave finally was taken on strength of the 12
th
 LHR at 

Ferry Post on 15 March, 1917. He served with the 12
th
 LHR 

in the field until late August. During this time they were 

involved in the Second Battle of Gaza. 

 On 26 August 1917, Dave marched out of the 12
th
ôs 

camp at Abasan to do guard duty at Khan Yunis [right ]. Khan 

Yunis was a permanent rest camp about two miles inland 

from the coast at Deir El Belah. However, three days later on 

29 August, he attended the 65
th
 Casualty Clearing Station 

with a sore throat. 

A 
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 Dave then spent the next month recovering from what was diagnosed as tonsillitis. After regaining 

his health, he briefly returned to the 4
th
 Light Horse Training Regiment at Moascar before rejoining the 12

th
 

LHR on 25 October at Fara. 

 Dave returned to his unit as they were preparing for an imminent attack on Beersheba. At 4.30 pm 

on 31 October, 1917, the 12
th
 and the 4

th
 Light Horse Regiments were on a ridge overlooking Beersheba. 

Each regiment formed up on a squadron frontage in three lines, 300 to 500 yards apart. 

 With bayonets in their hands, the two regiments moved off at a trot, and soon the pace quickened to 

a gallop. The light horsemen didnôt have everything their own way ï Turkish artillery opened fire, but so 

swift was the advance that most of the shells passed harmlessly overhead. The supporting British artillery 

also quickly dealt with Turkish machine-gun fire. 

 As the two galloping regiments drew nearer to the Turkish trenches, the light horsemen came within 

rifle range. Many horses in the leading line were hit and dropped. The enemy fire only served to speed the 

gallop. Within minutes the two regiments began to overrun the Turkish trenches. So demoralised were the 

Turks that they only offered feeble resistance. Most opted, wisely, to surrender. 

 Many of the 12
th
 Light Horse kept heading for Beersheba itself, overtaking and forcing the surrender 

of many fleeing Turks. The regiment swept through Beersheba to the hills beyond. They only stopped when 

checked by a more-organised enemy force. Flushed with success, the 12
th
 returned and consolidated their 

positions around the village.  

 Dave OôRourke, unknowingly, had been part of the one of the last great cavalry charges in history. 

 Dave remained in reasonable health, serving with his regiment until early March 1918. On 2 March 

he was badly injured. The official investigation best describes the incident: 

Inner side of L[eft] Knee. Contusion of Femur & Tibia with much swelling of Knee joint. Serious. Kicked by 

a horse. In performance of military duty at time of Accident. No-one to blame. No disciplinary action 

proposed. 

 

Lieutenant Webb confirmed that Trooper OôRourke had been leading three horses at a watering party at 

Medjel when he was kicked by a horse from the party in front. Daveôs injury effectively finished his active 

service with the 12
th
 Light Horse Regiment. Although remaining on the nominal roll, he was medically 

downgraded to a classification of óB3ô. He spent the last months of the war in and out of hospital. When fit 

enough he was detached to work (ólight duties onlyô) in various stores depots. 

 Dave OôRourke began his return to Australia 

when he boarded the Delta at Kantara on 2 June, 1919. 

He was discharged from the AIF in October, 1919. His 

mother, Harriet, had five sons from her first marriage: 

Patrick was accidentally killed in 1916; John (jnr) 

settled in Brisbane; Dave and Michael would settle in 

Wellington, and Laurence would serve around the state 

in the NSW Police Force. Harriet lived in Pierce Street 

and died at the grand old age of 83 years.  

 The photo at left shows Dave OôRourke after 

his return from the war and was probably taken in 

Wellington. Dave is the boyish-looking, tall young man 

standing at left. Directly in front of Dave is believed to 

be Tom Dowd [Lieutenant, 2
nd

 MG Bn], a fellow Coo-

ee. To Daveôs left (standing) is possibly Les Sullivan 

[Cpl 2230, 14
th
 LHR, also a Coo-ee, from Bodangora]. 

The man in front of Les is Frank Naveau [4065, 5
th
 

DAC/Russian Relief Force]. It is believed Frank was 

mates with several Wellington men during the war and 

moved to the town following his discharge from the 

AIF. 

 Dave married Edna Newton in 1920, and the 

couple settled in Wellington, raising five children. 

David (jnr) would go on to serve four years in the Navy 

during WWII.  

 Dave OôRourke passed away in Wellington in 

1958. 
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Corporal 3316 Arthur Roy Ford, 20th Battalion: óMy dutyô 
Published in The Sydney Morning Herald, 5 June, 1916. Profile by Graeme Hosken.  

 

ñMY DUTYò 

AUSTRALIAN  SOLDIERôS LETTER. 

PARKES, Sunday. 

Following are extracts from a letter written by Pte Arthur Ford, of Parkes [on 28 August, 1915], who was 

killed in action on the 5
th
 May last. It was in reply to a letter from his father, who was inclined to oppose 

his enlisting, and written when Ford was just 21 years old:- 

Dear Father, - Yours to hand by todayôs mail. I am very 

sorry indeed that you should see the matter in the light 

which you do. Last year (1914), I could quite see your 

point of view, but now things have come to such a pass 

that every man who can go is absolutely needed. A year 

ago it was a mere matter of sentiment, of giving the old 

country a hand, but now it is a case not only of duty, but 

of necessity for the sake of our own country. You must 

see that.  

 Do you think I could remain here, inactive, and 

see the other men going to fight to protect me and others 

like me, and keep us here in nice comfortable billets? 

Would it óbe honourableô? I should consider it a disgrace 

upon my name, and I know very well that if you were 

younger you would be among the first to go. Would you 

have me called a shirker? In myself, Iôd rather be shot. 

 I have excuses for not going if necessary. I have 

been recalled once. Iôm wanted here as a teacher and as a 

recruiting officer. But I am wanted much more over there. 

Do not think I am going for pleasure, as I have a fair idea 

of what to expect over there. The fellows who come back 

unhurt will be very lucky. Iôve got a splendid little school 

here (near Batlow), and I like the people. Also I have been 

promoted this year. Still it is no time to consider that, and 

if I had £1 000 a year I have enough faith in myself to feel 

sure that I would go just the same.  

 You and mother feel it very much, I know, but you have two sons, and isnôt it up to you to spare one 

of us? I sincerely hope that you will reconsider your decision and remove your objections, for, although it 

cannot alter my determination to do my duty as far as I am able, I will feel much easier in my mind if you 

will do so. Trusting to hear from you again. ï Your affectionate son. Arthur Ford. 

_______________________________________________________ 

 

wenty-three year old school teacher, Arthur Ford , enlisted on 7 September, 1915. He was teaching at 

Peels Creek near Batlow and had been a cadet instructor for three years. He was instrumental in 

raising a band of recruits from the Batlow district and accompanied them to Sydney, where he was on 

the Instructional Staff as acting corporal for some time. Arthur was allocated to the 7
th
 Reinforcements to the 

20
th
 Battalion and embarked on the Suevic on 23 December, 1915. He was taken on strength of the 20

th
 

Battalion at Moascar, Egypt, on 15 March, 1916, and proceeded to France on 18 March.  

 Arthur was killed on 5 May, 1916, soon after the 20
th
 Battalion entered the trenches in the 

Armentieres óNursery Sectorô. One Red Cross statement says that Arthur was killed by shell fire; another 

states he was killed by a bullet while manning his post. He was buried at the Brewery Orchard Cemetery at 

Bois Grenier, 4 000 yards south of Armentieres. Arthur had done his duty.  

 Arthur Ford was killed on the night of a German trench raid that captured two Stokes mortars left in 

the front line by the 20
th
 Battalion, against General Plumerôs orders. This incident brought considerable 

embarrassment and some shame to the AIF, and to the 20
th
 Battalion in particular. [See Bean, Vol III , pp198-

208 for an account of this episode.] 

T 
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 Arthurôs father, George Ford, of óStanleighô, Parkes, did not know Arthurôs address or service 

number when his son sailed from Australia, indicating they may have been somewhat estranged. This 

impression is strengthened by the wording of Arthurôs Will made out on 15 April, 1916: 

In the event of my death I give the whole of my personal property and effects which I have with me, 

or upon my person, to Corporal Douglas Stuart, 20
th
 Battalion, or should he pre-decease me, to 

Sergeant W Stewart, of the 20
th
 Battalion, stipulating only that he shall convey my pocket book, and 

contents thereof to Mr J Aston, residing at Mt Druitt, near Penrith, NS Wales.   

 

After Arthurôs death, his possessions of ómittens, tie, prayer book, sand glasses, safety razor, razor, postcards 

and atlasô were shipped to Cpl D Stuart, c/o Mr MD Stuart, Linden Lodge, Linden. (This document had Mr 

George Fordôs name and address crossed out, as the instructions of the Will had become known to the army.) 

Mr J Aston was sent a disc, leather charm, stamps, silk bookmark, diary, spectacles and photos. However, 

George Ford, as next of kin, did receive his late sonôs service medals, as well as a package sent home in 

December, 1916.  

 This is the first time I have found a Will which has left the soldierôs property to army colleagues. 

The fact that Arthur left his parents and brother out of his Will indicates a rift in the family caused by 

Arthurôs enlistment. Allowing the óSydney Morning Heraldô to publish extracts from Arthurôs very personal 

letter to his father may have been act of public contrition by George Ford.  

 Interestingly, the Roll of Honour Circular was filled out by Christina Jane Ford, Arthurôs mother, 

rather than by George. Could George not bring himself to do it? 

 

Endnotes: (1) Private 682 Douglas Stuart, 20
th
 Bn, returned to Australia, 5 November, 1917. (2) 

Sergeant 761 William Stewart, 20
th
 Bn, returned to Australia, 18 January, 1919. (3) Arthurôs relationship 

with Mr J Aston  seems to have been through the teaching profession: a John Aston was the headmaster of 

Colyton Public School, and is likely the man mentioned in this article regarding Colytonôs War Trophy: 

 

After the cessation of hostilities, a State Trophy Committee was set up to allocate captured guns 

(war trophies), to Australian towns. On 4 July, 1921, Colyton submitted an application to the 

Committee. The three trustees nominated for Colyton were John Aston, Arthur Napier Goleby (9
th
 

Battalion) and William George Martin (4
th
 Battalion). The application was followed by a letter from 

John Aston to the Secretary of the NSW State Trophy Committee asking for a deferment as there was 

no suitable place to house the gun. Aston stated that he had written to the Minister for Education 

asking for approval to house the gun in the school. 

On 4 August, 1921, the Committee replied, stating that they would waive the requirement for the gun 

to be housed publicly, and gave permission for the gun to be housed in a private dwelling until a 

public building became available. 

The trustees signed an agreement on 24 August, 1921. Two machine guns were allocated to Colyton: 

No. 3211 Heavy Machine Gun (without mount) captured by the 4
th
 Battalion; 

No. 6911 Light Machine Gun (with bipod) captured by the 45
th
 Battalion. 

The fate of these guns is unknown. 

Sources: 

Billett, RS (1999), War Trophies from the First World War: 1914-1918. Kangaroo: East Roseville, 

NSW. 

AWM194 Allotment of 1914-1918 War Trophies. 

Source: penrithhistory.com/memories-of-war/penrith-district-war-trophies/colyton-war-trophy/ 

 

There is an Aston Avenue in South Penrith, probably named after John Aston. 

(4) Arthur Ford taught in Condobolin before moving to Peels Creek. (5) According to the óLachlan and 

Condobolin and Western Districts Recorderô [21 June, 1916], Arthur óhad several determined tries to pass 

the medical for enlistmentô. The paper, which also republished Arthurôs letter, stated that óit would appear 

that, after leaving here, he also had some difficulty in overcoming his fatherôs objectionsô. (6) Arthurôs letter 

was published in a number of newspapers in NSW and Victoria. One paper commented that the letter was an 

appeal to patriotism, aimed at encouraging further enlistment. (7) The Fords had three sons: Frederick, b. 

1890; Arthur, b. 1893 and Sydney, born 1898. Frederick passed away in 1902. Sydney did not enlist. (8) 

Peels Creek Public School was located along the Old Tumbarumba Road, between Wondalga and Batlow. 

The school closed in 1969 and is now a private residence. 
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Dr Frank Wiseman Doak, RAMC, and his family 
Judith Green, Fitzroy, SA. 

 

ne of Mosmanôs landmarks is the house óWarrenderô on 

the corner of Belmont Road and Military Road. Now part 

of Mosman High School and previously Mosman Library, 

it was once the home of Dr Frank Wiseman Doak (1870-1943) 

and his family, which included twin sons, Anthony Frank 

Wiseman Doak and James Stephen Bucknall Doak, who were  

born on 1 April, 1898. Frank served in WWI as MO with the 

Royal Army Medical Corps, Anthony with the 6
th
 Australian 

Light Horse, and James with the 35
th
 Field Artillery. Right: 

Historic photo of óWarrenderô at 114 Belmont Road, Mosman. 

 Frank Doak grew up in Neutral Bay in the family home óUraraô. His father, Andrew James Doak, 

worked with the NSW Savings Bank and his grandmother, Margaret Doak (c1798-1883), was a successful 

Sydney dressmaker whose will provided for the education of her grandchildren. Frank attended Sydney 

Boysô High School, was a University Scholar and gained a BA before commencing his medical course. He 

was tall and athletic, played tennis for Sydney University and lived at St Paulôs College. After his marriage 

on 31 December, 1894, to Mabel Bucknall he sailed with his wife to Scotland, where he completed his 

medical studies in Edinburgh and gained his LRCP and S. Frank returned to Australia and set up medical 

practice and was awarded FRACS.  

 Frank continued his medical studies in Glasgow and was in England when he enlisted at Westminster 

in May, 1915. His official war records were destroyed in 1920 but his medal card is in UK archives and his 

commission as lieutenant was recorded in the óLondon Gazetteô of 17 July, 1915. Frank later sent his war 

service record to Sydney University, where it is in the Book of Remembrance. Frank was MO in military 

hospitals in Aldershot and Edinburgh, was promoted to captain and then spent 12 months in Malta, where he 

treated many of the Diggers wounded at Gallipoli. In 1916 he returned to England on the hospital ship 

Essequibo and was then SMO on the troopship Suffolk, which sailed for Australia via Durban in late 1916. 

Dr Frank Doak returned to general practice, was a highly respected doctor in Mosman and a specialist 

surgeon at the Royal North Shore Hospital. He had three daughters and the twin sons, Anthony and James. 

 Trooper Anthony Frank Wiseman Doak, service number 3655, attended The Kingôs School and on 

20 April, 1917, enlisted in the 6
th
 Australian Light Horse Regiment and embarked on SS Canberra on 16 

November, 1917. After serving in Palestine he returned to Australia in June, 1919, and worked as a jackeroo 

before acquiring his own property. His first marriage ended in divorce and in 1942 he married Bonnie 

Stoneman. Their daughter was just a little girl when Anthony died in 1954.  

         Gunner James Stephen Bucknall Doak, service number 63734, was Anthonyôs twin brother and also 

attended The Kingôs School. He enlisted on 25 February, 1918, as a gunner in the 1
st
 FAB and was 

demobilised in England, where he entered Keble College, Oxford, as a student in Arts, graduating with 

Honours in History. On returning to Australia, James taught at The Armidale School and then joined the 

teaching staff of his old school ï Kingôs ï in 1930, where he taught for 24 years until ill-health forced his 

retirement. James never married. He was an inspiring teacher and a passionate collector and restorer of 

clocks and watches. His death came in 1955, the year after his brother. 

 Dr Frank Doakôs daughter, Janet Kathleen (1906-1980), married 

orthopaedic surgeon, Dr Thomas Stubbs-Brown (1907-1985), who served in 

WWII as MO and was with the Australian troops in the Middle East and 

treated them during the siege of Tobruk. He then served in New Guinea as 

MO in the casualty clearing stations. 

          Dr Lucy Meredith Bryce  CBE (1897-1968) was Frank Doakôs niece, 

daughter of his sister, Margaret (Madge) Bryce, whose letters between 1889 

and 1900 have been preserved. Madge wrote on 12 September, 1897: I have 

become the proud possessor of a small daughter ... a dear little baby with 

dark hair and eyelashes, fair complexion and blue eyes. Her name is Lucy 

Meredith, Lucy after Mamma and Meredith after Mr Bryceôs and my favourite 

novelist.  

 Lucy [left] grew up to become a noted haematologist and prime mover 

in the establishment of the Red Cross Blood Bank. WWI was raging when 

Lucy graduated in Science from Melbourne University, and realising the 
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